Where's the beef?

A quantitative study of the impact of advertising claims on consumer beliefs, attitudes and behavioral intentions in the context of plant-based meat

Abstract

With a growing population to feed and increased focus on reducing unsustainable (for both the planet and the body) food practices, meat consumption and reduction has become a hot topic. Although an increasing number of people are choosing to ditch dairy and say no to meat, most people in the Western world do consume meat, and enjoy doing it. Advertising has long been known to effectively impact consumers' food choices but when it comes to advertising plant-based meat alternatives, marketers and food producers are still finding their best practices. While heavy users of plant-based meat alternatives, vegetarian and vegans, don't need much persuading, same cannot be said about people who have not cut meat from their diets, i.e., flexitarians and meat eaters. Prior research has identified various barriers and drivers for consumption of plant-based meats and the reduction of meat, namely environmental, ethical and health reasons, but it is rather unknown if these potential benefits should be focused on when advertising plant-based meat alternatives to the masses. Therefore, the following thesis aims to evaluate if and how different advertising claims affect meat eaters and flexitarians. Additionally, the thesis also aims to evaluate which behavioral constructs predict purchase intentions for plant-based meat alternatives among these individuals. The study shows that an advertising claim plays an important role but that the type of claim does not matter as much as one would think. Furthermore, flexitarians and meat eaters are impacted differently by advertising claims in the context of plant-based meats. In addition, the study shows that consumer attitudes, subjective norm and moral norms predict purchase intentions. Finally, the study presents managerial implications and avenues for future research in the thriving field of plant-based meat alternatives.

Authors

Ida Hanhirova, 23923 Sophie Wellié, 42059 Supervisor Erik Modig

Word count: 19855

Master's thesis Stockholm School of Economics 2023-05-15

Acknowledgements

Thank you Erik Modig for supervising our thesis and guiding us through the process. We also want to thank Magnus Söderlund for valuable insights regarding experiments and Johan Båge for helping us with SPSS and data analysis. Finally, thank you Malin Rosenqvist, Brand Manager for Anamma, for helping us make sense of the fascinating industry of plant-based food.

Table of Contents

T/	TABLE OF FIGURES				
T/	E OF TABLES	5			
D	NITIONS	6			
1	INTRODUCTION	7			
•	Background				
	2 Problem area				
	3 Purpose	9			
	4 Delimitations	10			
	5 Expected knowledge contribution	11			
	5 Disposition	11			
2	THEORY AND HYPOTHESIS GENERATION	13			
	1 Theoretical background	13			
	2.1.1 Barriers and drivers for plant-based meat consumption	13			
	2.1.2 Different dietary groups	14			
	2.1.3 Claims, framing and advertising appeals for plant-based meat alternatives	15			
	2 Theoretical Research Gap	16			
	3 Theoretical framework and hypothesis generation	17			
	2.3.1 Appeals and claims used in the context of food advertising	17			
	2.3.2 Information processing and persuasion	18			
	2.3.3 Food Values	19			
	2.3.4 Attitudes and beliefs	22			
	2.3.5 Behavioral intentions	22			
	2.3.6 The theory of planned behavior	24			
	2.3.7 Extending the theory of planned behavior	25			
	4 HYPOTHESIZED MODEL	26			
	5 LIST OF HYPOTHESES	27			
3	METHODOLOGY	28			
	SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH APPROACH	28			
	2 Theory Collection	28			
	3 Research Design	29			
	4 PREPARATIONS FOR THE MAIN STUDY	29			
	3.4.1 Pre-study 1: Insights from the Swedish plant-based meat market	29			
	3.4.2 Pre-study 2: Selection of claims	30			
	3.4.3 Manipulation check	32			
	5 MAIN SIUDY	33			
	3.5.1 Shimul design	33			
	2.5.2 Survey design				
	3.5.4 Data collection				
	7 CRITICAL REVIEW OF DATA QUALITY				
	3.7.1 Reliability				
	3.7.2 Validity	40			
	3.7.3 Replicability	42			
		42			
4		43			
	1 ITEOINESISTESTING	43 ⊿2			
		+0			

	4.1.2	2 The Theory of Planned Behavior	50			
	4.2	Secondary research question: Claims and dietary preference	52			
	4.3	Summary of findings	54			
5	DISC		55			
	5.1	DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS FROM HYPOTHESIS TESTING	55			
	5.1.	1 Effect of advertising claims	55			
	5.1.2	2 The Theory of Planned Behavior	57			
	5.2	Discussion regarding the secondary research question	59			
6	CO	NCLUSION	60			
	6.1	A CLAIM HAS A POSITIVE EFFECT ON ATTITUDE AND BEHAVIORAL INTENTIONS, BUT THE TYPE OF CLAIM				
	DOES NOT MAKE A DIFFERENCE					
	6.2	ATTITUDES, SUBJECTIVE AND MORAL NORMS PREDICT PURCHASE INTENTIONS OF PLANT-BASED MEAT				
	ALTERN	ATIVES	61			
	6.3	The attitudes of flexitarians are more easily affected	61			
	6.4	Theoretical contributions	62			
	6.5	Managerial implications	63			
	6.6	Limitations and criticism of the study	63			
	6.7	SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	64			
7	REFI	ERENCES	66			
A	PPEND	CES	78			
	Appendix 1: Pre-study 1: Questions for interview with Anamma					
	APPENI	dix 2: Stimuli ads	78			
	Appeni	dix 3: Questionnaire main study	79			

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Proposed conceptual model	26
Figure 2: Conceptual model reminder	43
Figure 3: Attitude towards the behavior as mediator	49
Figure 4: Effect of ad condition on attitude, influenced by dietary preference	52

Table of Tables

Table 1: Summary of Hypotheses	27
Table 2: Results of pre-study 2: Claims	32
Table 3: Demographics of the respondents	38
Table 4: Statistical analysis for H1	44
Table 5: Statistical analysis for H2a	45
Table 6: Statistical analysis for H2b	45
Table 7: Statistical analysis for H2c	46
Table 8: Statistical analysis for H2d	46
Table 9: Summary of statistical tests for hypotheses H2	47
Table 10: One-way MANOVA: differences between claims	48
Table 11: One-way ANOVAs: ad perception	48
Table 12: Statistical analysis for H3	49
Table 13: Statistical analysis for H4	50
Table 14: Statistical analysis for H5 and H6	51
Table 15: Results from moderation analyses, interaction coefficients for all tested depe	endent
variables (X = exposure to claim)	52
Table 16: Results from moderation analysis, conditional effects at values of the moderat	or (X =
exposure to claim, Y = attitude)	53
Table 17: Results from moderation analysis for different levels of X (X = ad condition, Y = at	titude)
	53
Table 18: Summary of findings from hypothesis testing	54

Definitions

Advertising appeal: Refers to rhetorical ways of persuasion, often underlying the implicit psychology of advertisements (Oxford Reference, 2023).

Advertising claim: A statement made in advertising about the characteristics or benefits of a product or service, designed to persuade an individual to make a purchase (The Universal Marketing Dictionary, 2023).

Flexitarian: An individual consciously reducing meat intake but eating meat now and then (De Backer and Hudders, 2015).

Food neophobia: Refers to a tendency to avoid novel, unfamiliar foods (Hoek et al., 2011).

Food values: Refer to attributes and consequences related to food consumption that can be used to explain choices between a wide range of food products (Lusk & Briggerman, 2009).

Meat eater: An individual who eats (red) meat, fish and chicken (De Backer and Hudders, 2015).

Meat attachment: Defined as a positive bond towards meat (Graça et al., 2015).

Moral norm: An individual's perception of the morally right or wrong behaviour (Ajzen, 1991).

Plant-based meat alternatives (PBMA): In this study, plant-based meat alternatives refer to products that resemble the taste and texture of regular meat but are vegan, often made using soy, peas, wheat or a combination of them (Northcutt, 2022). PBMA is the abbreviation of plant-based meat alternatives.

Subjective norms: Perceived social pressures to perform or not to perform a behavior (Ajzen, 1991).

Vegan: An individual who consumes no food that comes from animals, such as meat, eggs, or dairy products (Merriam-Webster, 2023).

Vegetarian: An individual who does not eat meat: whose diet consists of vegetables, fruits, grains, nuts, and sometimes eggs or dairy products (Merriam-Webster, 2023).

1 Introduction

The following chapters introduce the topic of plant-based meat alternatives (PBMA), the practical importance of the topic for marketers and the problem area related to it. Furthermore, the research questions are outlined, together with expected knowledge contribution and an overview of the disposition of the remaining thesis.

1.1 Background

Long gone are the days where following a vegan or vegetarian diet was seen as a radical, hippie-like and extremist choice. Over the last few decades, reducing the consumption of meat and dairy has become mainstream, which has disrupted the food and beverage market for good. The innovation pace within the food sphere is tangible and our taste buds are sure to be in for an exciting time ahead. These types of innovations are needed, though. Feeding a planet of approximately 8 billion people comes at a high cost with regard to land and water usage, emissions and pollution. More than one third of all greenhouse gas emissions come from the production of food, with meat production accounting for 60% of the total (Ipsos, 2022). Indeed, since the world population is estimated to reach over 9 billion by 2050, drastic changes in how the planet is fed need to be made (UN Food and Agriculture Organization, 2009). Environmental reasons are however not the only motivation for people to change their eating habits, there are personal motives too. A growing body of research has linked meat and dairy heavy diets with negative health outcomes, such as weight issues and cardiovascular diseases (Zhang et al., 2021).

Indeed, health and environmental reasons are often listed as the number one motives for choosing PBMA instead of regular meat, with 54% of people claiming health and nutritional reasons and 38% indicating sustainability motives as the main driver for including PBMA in their diet (Ipsos, 2022). Alongside health and environmental concerns, broader welfare concerns are also seen as a key driver for reducing meat and dairy from daily diets, with 22% stating animal welfare concerns as a reason for opting for PBMA (Ipsos, 2022). Using plants as the main source of protein is nothing new per se, with tofu and falafel, for example, having been around for thousands of years. However, a big shift has happened during recent years and the global market for plant-based food has seen a huge surge, was valued at over 44 billion USD in 2022 and is estimated to reach a staggering 162 billion USD in 2030 (Statista, 2023). With the market growing at a fast pace and several companies entering the scene with innovative products and brands, there is sure to be something for even the pickiest of consumers.

However, despite a large variety of plant-based products, and the benefits of consuming them being rather well-known, changing dietary habits is seen as challenging and unnecessary according to the vast

majority (Shepherd, 2002). The study by Ipsos (2022) sheds light on this unwillingness to change dietary habits, stating that some 42% of people actively consuming meat were unlikely to cut back on animal products, while some 17% stated that this type of shift would be extremely unlikely. Indeed, when it comes to eating habits, people are creatures of habit and eating habits are ingrained in both social, cultural and personal norms (National Library of Medicine, 2021). A top executive at one of the world's largest PBMA companies, Impossible Foods, nails down the essentials of making PBMA a long-term food choice by stating that "You'll buy the product once based on novelty, you'll come back if the taste was good and if there are benefits such as nutrition and sustainability, and you'll buy it in the long run if the value is right" (Ipsos, 2022, p. 18). While this seems straightforward and intuitive, many argue that the shift towards a diet with reduced meat is moving at a slower pace than what would be needed in terms of planetary resources (UN Food and Agriculture Organization, 2009).

1.2 Problem area

The field of consumers' attitudes towards and preferences regarding PBMA in general is somewhat researched (de Oliveira Padilha et al., 2022; Knaapila et al., 2022; Van Loo et al., 2020). However, based on research, there is a great degree of uncertainty connected to how information about PBMA should be communicated ideally and how different audiences perceive the messaging connected to it (Edgar et al., 2009). Many argue that there is an important job-to-be-done for marketers to influence consumer behavior towards more sustainable lifestyles, including greener eating habits (Bogueva et al., 2017). PBMA being a rather novel food, there is a scant amount of research on how to encourage consumers to choose these products. Furthermore, many of the PBMA brands on the market wish to target a wider consumer market, for example meat eaters and flexitarians, as opposed to only targeting the more traditional target segment for plant-based products, i.e., vegetarians and vegans (Taylor, 2019). Indeed, most people in the Western world consume meat, so marketing products that closely resemble meat to a wide audience, rather than actively targeting the ones who abstain from consuming meat, makes intuitive sense (Eatwell, 2022). Targeting a wide consumer base comes with its challenges and marketers are testing the waters in the hope of finding the most optimal way to appeal to somewhat skeptical consumers.

Even though the drivers and barriers of reducing meat consumption and opting for a more plant-based diet are widely known, there is rather large consumer heterogeneity regarding the topic. Moreover, the vast body of research focusing on these barriers and drivers often overlook the potential differences among the large consumer group of people who consume meat and rather focus on understanding the motivations to go fully vegan or vegetarian (Janssen et al., 2016). What would actually motivate the large masses to opt for PBMA? Do the collective reasons, such as environmental or animal welfare concerns entice the great majority the strongest as some researchers claim (Fonseca & Sanchez-Sabate,

2022)? Or does it all come down to personal reasons such as focus on one's own health, as is claimed by a large group of researchers (Hopwood et al., 2020)? What about the obvious, but quite often in the context of PBMA rather neglected aspects of, hedonic enjoyment and taste? Indeed, there are plenty of possibilities regarding benefits for marketers and food producers to emphasize, to achieve effective communication but there seems to be no consensus regarding which aspects to highlight to create effective communication. Furthermore, it is obviously not only effective marketing activities that are needed to get consumers to choose PBMA. In fact, a thorough understanding of the consumer decision making process connected to PBMA, among people who actively consume conventional meat, is also necessary to increase the share of people choosing plant-based foods.

Increasing the share of individuals who consume meat to choose PBMA is also unsurprisingly a focus for one of Sweden's largest and most popular plant-based food brands, Anamma (Keldsen, 2022). Anamma's Brand Manager Malin Rosenqvist agrees that while vegetarians and vegans have long been the primary target for Anamma, flexitarians are an important and growing target group that has been rather neglected over the years since most focus has been put on heavy users, i.e., vegetarians and vegans. Rosenqvist states that attracting more flexitarians is an important focus area for Anamma. Furthermore, due to most Swedes identifying as meat eaters (Axfood, 2022), Rosenqvist agrees that this segment is undoubtedly attractive but quite unexplored in the category of PBMA (M. Rosenqvist, personal communication, February 24, 2023).

1.3 Purpose

The aim of this master's thesis is to examine whether and how various advertising claims aiming to promote PBMA affect the beliefs, attitudes, and behavioral intentions of consumers who eat meat, i.e., are not vegetarian. This study specifically tries to identify and assess the advertising claims commonly used in promoting PBMA, namely claims focusing on the health, environmental, and animal welfare benefits of PBMA as well as the obvious, but sometimes disregarded, potential benefit of taste. Moreover, the purpose is to investigate the role of dietary preference in shaping consumer responses to advertising claims for PBMA. By doing this, we aim to provide insights and recommendations for marketers of PBMA on how to effectively communicate the benefits of their products to consumers.

Additionally, this master's thesis aims to identify factors predicting purchase intentions for PBMA. Thereby, this study aims to provide a more thorough understanding of consumer behavior connected to PBMA as well as to pinpoint prospective areas for intervention and marketing tactics that can boost the uptake of these goods. The results of this study could ultimately help the public's health and environmental sustainability by encouraging the adoption of healthier and more environmentally

friendly eating habits. This thesis aims to cover the following research questions, which are broken down into two primary research questions and one secondary research question:

The primary research questions are:

- 1. What is the impact of different advertising claims, namely health, environmental, taste and animal welfare on consumers' beliefs, attitudes and behavioral intentions towards plant-based meat alternatives?
- 2. What are the factors influencing consumer decision-making when it comes to purchasing plantbased meat alternatives?

The secondary research question to be investigated is:

3. What is the effect of dietary preference (meat eaters and flexitarians) on the impact of different advertising claims on advertisements for plant-based meat alternatives?

1.4 Delimitations

In order to define the scope of this study, the following delimitations have been made. Firstly, this study is delimited due to the chosen manipulations. In the experiment, only the claims were manipulated, while everything else was kept constant to be able to assess the effects of the claims in isolation. Additionally, a conscious delimitation to use one claim as an independent variable and test whether the existence of the claim influences the dependent variables was made. The study therefore refrained from looking into other manipulations that concern the claim, such as use of language or length of the claim, or the effect of having multiple claims in one advertisement. In addition, the study is delimited to the choice of a neutral medium of the advertisement and thus does not assess any potential influence of the media format.

A second delimitation concerns the choice of the dependent variables in the model. The dependent variables were chosen according to which variables are widely accepted as being influenced by advertisements (see section 2.3). While there are other constructs that could have been affected by advertisements, such as brand attitudes, the purpose was to investigate effects on consumer behavior, where behavioral intentions were deemed as an appropriate predictor and beliefs and attitudes were seen as important potential mediators in the context of PBMA.

Finally, the study is deliberately limited to meat eaters and flexitarians, as argued for in section 1.2, and thus excludes the dietary group of vegetarians. Finally, while revenues of plant-based meat alternatives are increasing globally (Statista, 2022), this study is delimited to the Swedish, Finnish and German market. The three markets were deemed particularly interesting to look at due to the large variety of plant-based brands and products in these markets and the considerable share of people trying to reduce their meat intake (BMEL, 2023; Natural Resources Institute Finland, 2022; Svenskt kött, 2018).

1.5 Expected knowledge contribution

Although not entirely uncharted area, the discussion of PBMA has so far mostly concentrated on the factors that influence consumers' decisions to adopt a vegan or vegetarian diet, yet the domain of advertising PBMA has received less attention. More precisely, it has not considered how various advertising promises will be received by future customers, specifically those who still eat meat. In order to better understand those who eat meat and contribute to the change towards more sustainable eating patterns, this thesis focuses on flexitarians and meat eaters. The expected contribution includes evaluating the effectiveness of advertising claims emphasizing different benefits of PBMA, namely those connected to the environment, animal welfare and health, while also evaluating the obvious, but often neglected aspect of taste.

Second, by applying Ajzen's (1991) Theory of Planned Behavior and evaluating the possibility of expanding it with the concepts of moral norms and food neophobia, this study seeks to uncover explanatory variables that influence the consumer decision-making process when purchasing PBMA. Overall, the expected contributions of this research include a better understanding of the factors that shape consumer behavior in the context of PBMA, as well as practical insights for marketers and policymakers looking to promote sustainable and ethical food choices.

1.6 Disposition

This thesis consists of six sections, all aiming to serve a purpose in achieving the research objectives. First up, the *introduction* provided an overview of the research topic, and the cultural and economic relevance of it. Furthermore, research questions that the thesis aims to answer were outlined. The introduction is followed by a *theory and hypotheses generation* section, where previous research on the topic is presented, together with the identified research gap. Thereafter, the section covers the theoretical frameworks that lay the grounds for the conceptual model of the thesis. Next, the *methodology* section outlines the research design, sampling methods, data collection procedures, and data analysis techniques used in the study. It also discusses the quality of the study from different perspectives. The fourth section *analysis and results* presents and analyzes the findings of the study in relation to the hypotheses

presented in the *theory and hypotheses generation* section. Chapter five, *discussion*, discusses the implications of the findings in relation to the research questions and the theoretical framework. A sixth and final section includes summarizing *conclusions* of all the above as well as theoretical contributions and managerial implications. Finally, limitations and criticism alongside suggestions for future research are presented.

2 Theory and Hypothesis Generation

The following sections present the theoretical foundation of the thesis. First, an overview of the current literature and research is outlined in the theoretical background, followed by a description of the observed research gap. Then, the theoretical framework, including traditional marketing theory as well as theory connected to consumer behavior is presented. Hypotheses are generated throughout the theoretical Framework section.

2.1 Theoretical background

2.1.1 Barriers and drivers for plant-based meat consumption

The background above sheds light on superfluous meat consumption having negative consequences on the environment, animal welfare and health and how the market of PBMA is growing at a fast pace. Yet, there is a certain reluctance among people, specifically in Western societies, to reduce their meat consumption and embrace a more plant-based diet (Lea et al., 2006). Furthermore, previous research has found that the preference towards choosing PBMA over conventional meats remains low (Van Loo et al., 2020). Research aiming to unveil the barriers and drivers for meat reduction and the adoption of a more plant-based diet is rather extensive (Graça et al., 2015; Hielkema & Lund, 2021). Indeed, main barriers for choosing PBMA include lower sensory attractiveness, practicalities, habits and skepticism about the necessity of reducing meat intake (Hielkema & Lund, 2021; Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022). The phenomena of food neophobia, defined by Hoek et al. (2011) as a tendency to avoid novel, unfamiliar foods, is also identified as a barrier for purchasing PBMA in some studies (Bryant et al., 2019; Hwang et al., 2020). Furthermore, the phenomenon of meat attachment is also widely considered to be a barrier for choosing PBMA and is described as "*a positive bond towards meat*" (Graça et al., 2015, p. 114).

Luckily, research has also identified drivers for choosing PBMA, including ethical and moral considerations as well as health reasons (Circus & Robison, 2019; Contini et al., 2020). Interestingly, sensory attractiveness has also been identified as a driver for PBMA consumption, while low sensory attractiveness is also seen as a barrier, as mentioned above, which illustrates the heterogeneity of consumer perceptions regarding PBMA (Circus & Robison, 2019; Elzerman et al., 2013). Indeed, it is the differences between consumers that make the emerging field of research on PBMA consumption and preferences ever so interesting, which is why the following chapter will outline previous research regarding the dietary groups that plant-based meat producers often consider important to win over, namely meat eaters and flexitarians.

2.1.2 Different dietary groups

There is a plethora of different dietary groups which is why it is of high relevance to look at the differences among these dietary groups in the context of meat consumption, which is more researched compared to differences between dietary groups regarding the consumption of PBMA. Previous research has also found a negative correlation between meat consumption and plant-based meat consumption (Siegrist & Hartmann, 2019).

Research has found that going fully vegan or vegetarian may not be realistic or necessary for the large majority of consumers, but rather that reduction can play an important part in transitioning to a more environmentally sustainable and healthy diet (Dagevos, 2021; Eckl et al., 2021). In many developed countries, a significant portion of the population consists of omnivores, also known as meat-eaters, and flexitarians, often referred to as meat-reducers, making these consumer segments and their characteristics important to consider when uncovering the route to substantial and long-term meat reduction (Eckl et al., 2021). Furthermore, the consumer groups of meat eaters and flexitarians are to be seen as promising future consumers of PBMA since studies have found that these dietary groups look for alternative proteins that resemble conventional meat, making PBMA a relevant and natural step in their meat reduction (Eatwell, 2022). Therefore, these consumer groups are an integral part of interest for both producers of meat alternatives and marketers (Michel et al., 2021; Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022). Although both dietary groups still consume meat, research has hinted towards differences in their motives to do so, making these consumer groups potentially more heterogeneous than one might think (Dagevos, 2021). Moreover, researchers suggest that having a thorough understanding of factors influencing consumer decision making regarding PBMA is important to intervene and promote more sustainable and healthy food habits (Kemper et al., 2023).

Kemper et al. (2023) found differences between the groups regarding meat attachment, noting that meat eaters hold greater attachment to red meat than flexitarians. Furthermore, the study concluded that motivations for meat reduction differed, meat eaters continuing to consume meat due to its taste and flexitarians due to its nutritional value. When looking at further motivations for flexitarians to reduce meat consumption, there seems to be rather larger inconclusiveness, some studies indicating that health-related reasons are a primary reason for reducing meat consumption, but that ethical and environmental reasons are not (Forestell et al., 2012). Other research points to ethical and environmental considerations as main motivators for meat reduction among flexitarians (De Backer & Hudders, 2015; Verain & Dagevos, 2022). Zooming in on meat eaters, some studies have found that this group of people is also motivated by ethical and environmental considerations, although not to as large an extent as flexitarians (Apostolidis & McLeay, 2016). Moreover, another suggested difference between meat eaters and flexitarians is that flexitarians are, to a larger extent than meat eaters, aware of the connection between food choices, namely meat consumption and production, and climate change (Kemper et al., 2023).

While some studies have indeed found significant differences between meat eaters and flexitarians, some studies show that, when it comes to ethical considerations such as animal welfare, the groups are more homogeneous than one might think. Indeed, Kemper et al. (2023) found that animal welfare concerns are an equally important reason for meat reduction regardless of dietary preference.

Finally, an important notion to keep in mind when looking at the different dietary groups of meat eaters and flexitarians, is that usually categorizes these groups according to self-identified dietary preference and that in the case of dietary groups, there may be a variety of different diets and eating patterns, with varying degrees of overlap and distinction between them. In other words, dietary preference cannot be seen as a binary variable as for example gender. Due to this and the fact that differences between meat eaters and flexitarians remain vague and rather inconclusive, these groups' potential differences will be explored as a secondary research question. More specifically, the secondary research question aims to explore whether these dietary groups differ in how they are impacted by advertising claims regarding PBMA. Please note that hypotheses are not generated for this additional research question due to the aforementioned ambiguities in both categorization, and research findings mostly being connected to meat reduction, as opposed to the consumption of PBMA.

2.1.3 Claims, framing and advertising appeals for plant-based meat alternatives

In the hopes of increasing consumers' willingness to purchase PBMA, some researchers have studied how to optimize messaging and framing of meat alternatives; nonetheless, the body of research on marketing activities relating to PBMA remains scant. In a recent study, however, the effect of language style in the context of conveying the environmental impact of consuming meat and promoting PBMA found that the use of figurative language, as opposed to literal, resulted in more favorable consumer responses (Ye & Mattila, 2022). Papies et al. (2020) found that including descriptions that evoke feelings of enjoying food on ready-made plant-based meal labels increased purchase intentions. These findings indicate that food in general is considered a highly emotive product (Canetti et al., 2002). Furthermore, Ye & Mattila (2021) have investigated the role of different communication strategies in making plant-based menu items at restaurants more desirable, concluding that emphasizing a social appeal (e.g., "environmental and animal welfare friendly") increased the likelihood of consumers opting for plant-based menu items. However, Ye & Mattila (2021) encouraged future research to separate the components of "social" appeal in order to separately look at environmental and animal welfare benefits. Some efforts have been made to investigate how different consumer groups perceive PBMA advertisement. Indeed, a recent study conducted among Americans found that individuals, depending on political ideology, perceived message framings in PBMA advertisements differently, suggesting that an environmental framing does not resonate well with conservative consumers (Yule & Cummings,

2023). Some researchers have also tested the use of different product names when referring to PBMA and how they affected consumer preferences towards the product. Findings from these studies conclude that using the product name "vegan meat" or "plant-based meat" as opposed to "artificial meat" or "meat-alternative" resulted in more positive consumer responses (Sucapane et al., 2021; Ye et al., 2022).

2.2 Theoretical Research Gap

Firstly, the existing research has largely focused on meat consumption and how it relates to attitudes and consumption of plant-based meat alternatives as well as on drivers and barriers related to consumption of plant-based meat alternatives. While it is important to understand barriers and drivers for food preferences, few efforts have been made to uncover efficient ways for food producers and marketers to optimize advertising of novel foods, such as plant-based meat alternatives. Moreover, according to social marketing research, effective communication can be utilized in order to alter human behavior for the benefit of the environment (Pidgeon & Fischhoff, 2011), which is why the case of advertising of plant-based meat is interesting, yet rather unexplored.

Moreover, the current body of research which has investigated ways of marketing PBMA often undermines or neglects the group of consumers that are not the primary target group for PBMA, i.e., who are not vegetarian or vegan, or looks at the population as a whole, resulting in marketing activities that might be too niched on one hand, or too general on the other. This thesis aims to find clarity regarding which benefits of PBMA to enhance, in order to win over the consumer groups that consume regular meat. Moreover, in contrast to previous research, this research, more specifically the secondary research question, aims to discover if there are differences in how plant-based meat marketers should appeal to the dietary groups that consume meat, since it is this large group of people whose meat reduction and increased interest in PBMA can have a significant impact on achieving more sustainable eating habits (Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022).

Secondly, the Theory of Planned Behavior, also referred to as the TPB (Ajzen, 1991) has been widely used to investigate individuals' attitudes, beliefs, and intentions towards various health behaviors, such as smoking, exercise, and healthy eating (Montague et al., 2001; Sogari et al., 2023; Wakefield et al., 2010), and even meat reduction (Çoker & van der Linden, 2022). However, there has been limited research on the application of the TPB in the context of plant-based meat alternatives and the adoption of plant-based meat alternatives is still relatively low, and there is a need to better understand the factors that influence individuals' acceptance and intentions to consume these products. Furthermore, the Theory of Planned Behavior neglects some important factors that might be applicable in gaining a more nuanced understanding of consumer behavior in relation to plant-based meat alternatives, namely the notions of *moral norms* and *food neophobia*. To the knowledge of the authors, these concepts have not

together or separately been used to extend the Theory of Planned Behavior in the context of plant-based meat alternatives, opening an interesting avenue of research.

2.3 Theoretical framework and hypothesis generation

2.3.1 Appeals and claims used in the context of food advertising

Various advertising appeals are used by marketers to "create an atmosphere where the target audience desires are evoked towards the product", which in turn aims to increase communication effectiveness (Akbari, 2015, p. 479). Advertising appeals come in many different variations but are commonly divided into two broad categories, namely emotional appeals and rational appeals (Li, Li, & Zhao, 2009). According to Leonidou and Leonidou (2009), as explained by Akbari (2015), emotional appeals seek to evoke a consumer's social, psychological, or symbolic needs whereas rational appeals aim to appeal to rational thinking, often highlighting a product's practical and functional aspects. In practice, appeals can be communicated in different formats, the most common ones being verbal and visual appeals. A form of a verbal advertising appeal could therefore be, for example, an advertising claim.

Indeed, statements made in advertisements with the aim of enhancing the positive and emphasizing the attractiveness of the product depicted in the advertisement are generally called claims (Wells et al., 2006). Claims are widely seen as a powerful tool for marketers, as proven by Mitchell and Olsson (1981), who state that attitudes are significantly influenced by product attribute beliefs which in turn can be affected by advertising claims. Claims are widely used in marketing and advertising to affect the consumers' attitudes about a product or brand and the context of food advertising is no exception (Kim et al., 2009). In the context of food advertising, claims are in some instances divided in two different categories, namely nutrition and health claims and product information (Kim et al., 2009). A health claim, as defined by the European Commission (2023) is "any statement about a relationship between food and health", for example "fiber regulates blood sugar". A nutrition claim is any claim that "states, suggests or implies that a food has particular beneficial nutritional properties" (European Commission, 2023). However, previous research has shown that consumers do not generally distinguish between health and nutrition claims which is why this study regards both health and nutrition claims, as defined above, as health claims (Williams, 2005). Product information claims on the other hand, inform for example about the product's quality, taste or convenience (Kim et al., 2009). Indeed, we assume the positive effect of an advertising claim to hold true in the context of plant-based meat alternatives and hypothesize the following:

H1: A PBMA advertisement containing a claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.

- a. Beliefs
- b. Attitude towards the ad (Attitude_{ad})
- c. Attitude towards the behavior (Attitude)
- d. Other behavioral intentions
- e. Purchase intentions

2.3.2 Information processing and persuasion

The psychological mechanisms behind persuasion processes can be explained by information processing models. The Cognitive Structure Model, as described in Cartwright's (1949) work on mass persuasion, explains that a series of interrelated and complex processes must be activated within the individual to impact behavior. These processes involve establishing a particular cognitive structure, motivational structure, and behavioral structure. An individual's behavior is thus essentially influenced by the individual's beliefs, opinions, and "facts," as well as by their goals, needs, and values (Cartwright, 1949). As stated by Lutz and Swasy (1977), Cartwright's (1949) propositions about the cognitive persuasion process are in line with the expectancy-value model, which will be presented next.

The expectancy-value model of attitudes is a widely used theory to explain the relationship between beliefs and attitude formation towards an object (Ajzen, 2001; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). According to this model, a person's attitude towards an object is determined by the sum of salient beliefs associated with the object, such as characteristics, attributes, values and goals, multiplied with the evaluation of those beliefs (Cohen et al., 1972; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). The model assumes that evaluative meanings emerge unconsciously when forming beliefs about the object (Ajzen & Fishbein, 2000), and only beliefs that are easily accessible in memory affect attitudes (Ajzen, 2001). As stated in Lutz and Swasy (1977), the expectancy-value perspective implies that an individual's behavior can be influenced by messages addressing the individual's goals or means to achieve those goals. Furthermore, Kim et al. (2009) claim a greater likelihood of attitude change or persuasion if the perceived characteristics of an object are highly valued. Kokkinaki and Lunt (1999) additionally found that high personal relevance, or involvement, increased information processing as well as strength and accessibility of attitudes significantly (Kokkinaki & Lunt, 1999; Ajzen, 2001).

Thus, in the context of advertising, this implies that in order to change beliefs and attitudes, advertisements need to portray characteristics that are of relevance to the receiver, which is why the following sections will first present the concept of *food values*, establishing a foundation for consumer choice making in the context of food, followed by important factors affecting choice-making in the context of meat and PBMA.

2.3.3 Food Values

Rather than explaining mechanisms behind consumers' choice-making regarding food by preferences, which according to Lusk and Briggerman (2009) cannot be seen as stable constructs, the duo set out to identify a set of *food values* that would better explain consumer choices in the food domain. Moreover, instead of indicating food attributes per se, food values would indicate *"abstract attributes, consequences and end states of food consumption that are potentially applicable in explaining choices between a wide range of food products"* (Lusk & Briggerman, 2009, p. 186). Based on their research, Lusk and Briggerman (2009) found that the values of safety, nutrition, taste, and price were rated as the most important ones for consumers on average but that there is significant heterogeneity in the importance placed on the (in total 11 identified) food values among consumers in general. While the most prominent food values among consumers consuming PBMA specifically have not been established, we now turn to research highlighting key beliefs, motivations and attitudes regarding meat consumption and reduction as well as plant-based meat consumption, in order to carve out potential food values in the context of PBMA. Even though price has also been highlighted as an important factor in theory, the authors of this thesis decided to omit it since the purpose of the thesis was to test different claims, and price was not seen as a comparable claim.

2.3.3.1 Taste

When researching consumer attitudes and beliefs affecting consumption of plant-based meat alternatives, a study conducted among Swedish consumers concluded, not surprisingly, that taste was one of the most important factors affecting attitudes and beliefs regarding meat substitution products (Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022). Similar findings have been made by others: Bryant and Sanctorum (2021) found that taste and texture were the primary reasons for individuals expressing dissatisfaction with meat substitutes and Michel et al. (2021) found that meat is mainly associated with positive attributes like "delicious" while meat alternatives were associated with attributes like "disgust", pointing towards the importance of taste. Moreover, looking at reasons for meat consumption, several studies show that the primary reason individuals continue to consume meat is due to their enjoyment of its taste (Kemper, 2020; Kemper & White, 2021; Kemper et al., 2023; Mullee et al., 2017). Lea and Worsley (2003) found that enjoyment of the taste of meat was the most important barrier to meat reduction, similarly to van den Berg et al. (2022) who found taste as the strongest barrier in a study among young Dutch adults. It is also suggested that taste is the most important factor to emphasize when looking to increase positive attitudes towards PBMA among individuals who consume meat, since emphasis on taste could be perceived as more relevant and less controversial (Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022). To conclude, it is rather clear that taste is an important factor in the context of plant-based meat alternatives, which together with the theory presented regarding claims and attitude formation above, leads us to propose the following hypothesis:

H2a: A PBMA advertisement containing a positive taste claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.

- a. Beliefs
- b. Attitude towards the ad (Attitude_{ad})
- c. Attitude towards the behavior (Attitude)
- d. Other behavioral intentions
- e. Purchase intentions

2.3.3.2 Health

Another important belief to address in the context of plan-based meat alternatives, as suggested by Spendrup and Hovmalm (2022), is health. When it comes to beliefs regarding health, there are more salient differences between the two dietary groups (meat eaters and flexitarians) compared to for example taste. Indeed, research has found that health is the second most important reason for meat eaters to continue eating meat. What is more, compared to meat reducers, meat eaters had considerably lower levels of belief in the health benefits of plant proteins. More specifically, meat eaters were less inclined to agree that a diet based on PBMA is healthier than one that includes meat, and less likely to believe that reducing red meat consumption can prevent diseases (Kemper et al., 2023).

Turning to meat reducers on the other hand, one of the most prominent reasons for meat reducers to cut down on meat consumption has been found to be health reasons and the belief that there are health benefits with meat reduction (De Backer & Hudders, 2015; Lentz et al., 2018; Verain & Dagevos, 2022). Lentz et al. (2018) claim that meat reducers are more motivated by health concerns than other consumers. On the contrary, however, studies have also identified that despite being a motivator for meat reduction, health is also a factor inhibiting meat elimination, for instance due to meat being a source of iron and protein (De Backer & Hudders, 2015; de Boer et al., 2017; Kemper, 2020; Kemper et al., 2023; Pohjolainen et al., 2015). To conclude, despite differences between the dietary groups, health is seen as an important factor in the context of food choices, leading us to propose the following hypothesis:

H2b: A PBMA advertisement containing a health claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.

- a. Beliefs
- b. Attitude towards the ad (Attitude_{ad})
- c. Attitude towards the behavior (Attitude)

- d. Other behavioral intentions
- e. Purchase intentions

2.3.3.3 Environmental benefits

Many researchers have found environmental and sustainability concerns to be among the top reasons for consumers to reduce their meat consumption (Hielkema & Lund, 2021; van den Berg et al., 2022). Furthermore, studies have found that among the top reasons for consumers to consume plant-based meat alternatives are concerns about climate and sustainability (Cheah et al., 2020; Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022). Yet, differences among the dietary groups have been detected. Compared to most meat eaters, flexitarians are, to a greater extent, aware of climate change and the connection between food choices and climate change (Mullee et al., 2017). However, as pointed out by Lusk and Briggerman (2009), effect of food production on the environment is an important food value among consumers and food in general, which leads us to propose the following hypothesis:

H2c: A PBMA advertisement containing an environmental claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.

- a. Beliefs
- b. Attitude towards the ad (Attitude_{ad})
- c. Attitude towards the behavior (Attitude)
- d. Other behavioral intentions
- e. Purchase intentions

2.3.3.4 Animal welfare benefits

Kemper et al. (2023) found that animal welfare concerns are an equally important reason for meat reduction regardless of dietary preference. Furthermore, the study also found that consumers had similar beliefs of the importance of animal welfare when it comes to food choices. Furthermore, this notion is supported by several other studies that found that both meat eaters' and flexitarians' willingness to change their diet towards a more vegan diet may be more strongly motivated by animal suffering than by for example environmental or health concerns (Fonseca & Sanchez-Sabate, 2022; Janssen et al., 2016). This leads us to propose the following hypothesis:

H2d: A PBMA advertisement containing an animal welfare claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.

- a. Beliefs
- b. Attitude towards the ad (Attitude_{ad})
- c. Attitude towards the behavior (Attitude)
- d. Other behavioral intentions
- e. Purchase intentions

Marketers resort to claims, often with the end-goal of increasing consumer purchase intentions. But the route from being exposed to an advertisement or a claim to seeing a possible effect on purchase intentions needs to be examined more thoroughly, in order to fully understand the underlying mechanisms of claims and their effectiveness. In order to do so, the following chapters will explain the route from advertising exposure to potential behavioral intentions and the mediating factors along that route.

2.3.4 Attitudes and beliefs

The concept of attitudes is an important one to bear in mind, since attitudes are widely accepted as an effective predictor of consumer behavior (Ajzen, 2001; Katz, 1960; Udell, 1965). Katz (1960, p. 168) defines attitudes as "the predisposition of the individual to evaluate some symbol or object or aspect of his world in a favorable or unfavorable manner" and a more recent definition of Ajzen (2001, p. 28) denotes "attitude represents a summary evaluation of a psychological object". Fishbein and Ajzen (1975, p. 222) presented a widely acknowledged causal basis of attitudes, namely that "a person's attitude is a function of his salient beliefs at a given point in time". Beliefs, in turn, are "the subjective associations between any two discriminable concepts. Salient beliefs are those activated from memory and 'considered' by the person in a given situation" (Mitchell & Olson, 1981, p. 318). Salient beliefs thus play a crucial role in attitude formation. Besides beliefs, research has proposed another variable to play a significant role in the formation of attitudes and behavioral intentions, namely attitude toward the advertisement (MacKenzie et al., 1986; Mitchell & Olson, 1981). According to Mitchell and Olson (1981, p. 327), attitude toward the advertisement "reflects subjects' evaluations of the overall advertising stimulus".

2.3.5 Behavioral intentions

Behavioral intentions are often seen as a crucial predictor of an actual purchase. According to Ajzen (1991, p. 181), intentions are "*indications of how hard people are willing to try* (...) *in order to perform the behavior*" and if these intentions are strong, they likely lead the individual to perform the certain

behavior (Ajzen, 1991). Hence, behavioral intentions are gladly used by many researchers to assess consumers' purchasing behavior.

Behavioral intentions can be measured in different ways. Research often resorts to purchase intentions, seen as the closest predictor of an actual purchase and, according to Spears and Singh (2004, p. 56), defined as "an individual's conscious plan to make an effort to purchase a brand". Other behavioral intentions used in research on consumer behavior include repurchase behavior (Hellier et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2010; Rambocas et al., 2018); willingness to pay a price premium (WPP) (Anselmsson et al., 2014; de-Magistris & Gracia, 2016; Hultman et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2018); or intentions to recommend the product or service (Bendall-Lyon & Powers, 2004; Ladhari et al., 2017; Rambocas et al., 2018). In the context of novel foods, the willingness to try the product is further used by some researchers (Mancini et al., 2019; Menozzi et al., 2017; Moon et al., 2011). Intentions are distinct from attitudes, since intentions, as defined by Eagly and Chaiken (1993, p. 168), as cited by Spears and Singh (2004) are "the person's motivation in the sense of his or her conscious plan to exert effort to carry out a behavior", whereas attitudes can be seen as a summary of evaluations.

As Mitchell and Olson (1981) explain the reasoning of Fishbein (1963), beliefs serve as a mediator between advertising stimuli and attitude formation. These attitudes, in turn, affect intentions. As a result, to alter consumer behavior, advertisers must modify consumer beliefs. According to Fishbein, as described in Mitchell and Olson (1981, p. 319), the route from exposure to advertisement to behavioral intentions can then be summarized as: "a marketing stimulus such as an advertisement affects consumers' beliefs first. Then the influenced salient beliefs mediate the marketing variable's effect on attitude, and attitude in turn mediates subsequent effects on behavioral intention." Mitchell and Olson's (1981) findings, however, imply that the mediating role of attitude toward the ad should not be neglected either. This led to their suggestion of a slightly adapted causal flow from the exposure to an advertisement to behavioral intentions: an advertisement stimulus affects attitude toward the ad and salient beliefs about product attributes simultaneously, which in turn affect attitude toward the brand and attitude toward the behavior, which then finally shape behavioral intentions.

In the further course of this study, attitude toward the advertisement will be denoted as *attitude*_{ad}, while attitude toward the behavior will be referred to as *attitude*. Based on the presented theoretical findings, the relationships between beliefs, attitude_{ad}, attitude and behavioral intentions can then be hypothesized as follows:

H3a: Beliefs mediate the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives.

H3b: Attitude_{ad} mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives.

H3c: Attitude mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives.

2.3.6 The theory of planned behavior

The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) which is an extension of the Theory of Reasoned Action (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975), is one of the most cited and studied models for the prediction of human behavior. The very essence of the theory is that behavioral decisions are the result of a rational process in which behavior is influenced by three notions: attitudes, subjective norms and behavioral control (Sommer, 2011).

As already introduced in section 2.3.4, attitudes can be defined as "the degree to which a person has a favorable or unfavorable evaluation or appraisal of the behavior in question" (Ajzen, 1991, p. 188). Alongside attitudes, a second component predicting intention is a social factor called subjective norm. Ajzen (1991, p. 188) defines subjective norm as "the perceived social pressure to perform or not to perform the behavior". This social pressure commonly comes from people or groups in one's social environment, who are important or influential such as family, significant others or friends and to what extent they approve of one's behavior (D'Souza et al., 2022). The notion of social pressure has proven to be present in the context of food consumption, as a recent study found that it was one of the most prominent factors driving people's consumption of organic food (Ruiz de Maya et al., 2011). Finally, the third and final component in the TPB is perceived behavioral control, which Ajzen (1991, p. 188) defines as "the perceived ease or difficulty of performing the behavior". The factor of perceived behavioral control is important to observe in the context of novel foods, such as PBMA, since the convenience and availability of the product may restrict an intended purchase (D'Souza et al., 2022).

By applying the TPB, this study aims to find out whether attitudes, subjective norm or perceived behavioral control are predictors of purchase intentions towards PBMA. Therefore, the following hypotheses are proposed:

H4a: Attitude has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.H4b: Subjective norms have a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.

H4c: Perceived behavioral control has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.

2.3.7 Extending the theory of planned behavior

While the TPB it is one of the most cited theories to predict behavioral intentions (Alavion et al., 2017), it is also widely criticized. Some of the critiques towards the TPB include simplifying the process of consumer decision-making and putting too much focus on rational reasoning and leaving out unconscious influences on behavior (Sniehotta et al., 2014). In order to possibly increase the explanatory value of the model, it is suggested by an array of scholars that the TPB can be extended with additional independent variables (Conner & Armitage, 1998). In the context of plant-based meat alternatives, we suggest extending the TPB with the concepts *food neophobia* and *moral norms*.

2.3.7.1 Food neophobia

The concept of food neophobia refers to an aversion or reluctance to try novel or unfamiliar foods (Pliner & Hobden, 1992), usually prompted by avoiding the possible harm of eating something unfamiliar (Siegrist et al., 2013). Researchers have suggested that in order to introduce novel foods, such as PBMA, it is important to aim for a positive initial exposure of new foods as well as communicating their pleasant sensory attributes (Faria & Kang, 2022). Furthermore, food neophobia has been recorded as a barrier for the adoption of PBMA (Bryant et al., 2019; Hwang et al., 2020). Considering that the sensory aspect is an important factor in decision-making regarding food, it might be suggested that it is especially important for highly food neophobic consumers that PBMA resemble regular meat when it comes to sensory qualities. This, together with the fact that one of the most salient barriers for the unwillingness to reduce meat consumption is the enjoyment of and familiarity with the taste of meat, suggests that food neophobia can play an important role as an explanatory variable for purchasing plant-based meats (Kemper, 2020; Kemper et al., 2023), which leads us to suggest the following hypothesis:

H5: Food neophobia has a negative impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.

2.3.7.2 Moral norms

The TPB has been repeatedly criticized for basing attitudes on cognitive or rational beliefs, while insufficiently considering normative or moral influences on behavior (Arvola et al., 2008; Conner & Armitage, 1998). Ajzen (1991) defines moral norms as "personal feelings of moral obligation or responsibility to perform, or refuse to perform, a certain behavior". In a meta-analysis, Conner and Armitage (1998) found that moral norms significantly predicted intentions in most studies reviewed. However, research suggests that the impact of moral norms on behavior depends on the type of behavior

(Conner & Armitage, 1998; Godin et al., 2005). According to Connor and Armitage (1998, p. 1441), moral norms particularly influence *"behaviors with a moral or ethical dimension"*. Accordingly, the notion of moral norms has been used to explain various behaviors relating to sustainable behavior such as using public transportation (Heath & Gifford, 2002) and recycling (Guagnano et al., 1995), but to the knowledge of the authors, has not been applied to the context of plant-based meat consumption yet. Considering previous findings of the influence of moral norms on sustainable behaviors, it can be expected that moral norms can have an impact on plant-based meat consumption. Besides food neophobia, moral norms are therefore suggested to extend the TPB with:

H6: Moral norms regarding consumption of plant-based meat alternatives have a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.

2.4 Hypothesized model

The model presented below visualizes the hypothesized relationships and illustrates the tests that will be performed in the data analysis:



Figure 1: Proposed conceptual model

2.5 List of hypotheses

Summary of Hypotheses							
RQ1 : What is the impact of different advertising claims on consumers' beliefs,	H1: A PBMA advertisement containing a claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.						
intentions towards plant- based meat alternatives?	H2a: A PBMA advertisement containing a positive taste claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.						
	H2b: A PBMA advertisement containing a health claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.						
	H2c: A PBMA advertisement containing an environmental claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.						
	H2d: A PBMA advertisement containing an animal welfare claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.						
	H3a: Beliefs mediate the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant- based meat alternatives.						
	H3b: Attitude _{ad} mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant- based meat alternatives.						
	H3c: Attitude mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant- based meat alternatives.						
RQ2 : What are the factors influencing consumer decision-making when it	H4a: Attitude has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.						
comes to purchasing plant- based meat alternatives?	H4b: Subjective norm has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.						
	H4c : Perceived behavioral control has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.						
	H5: Food neophobia has a negative impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.						
	H6 : Moral norms regarding consumption of plant-based meat alternatives have a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.						

Table 1: Summary of Hypotheses

3 Methodology

The following chapter describes the methodological reasoning behind the study. The selection of research approach and design will be presented alongside pre-tests conducted in preparation for the main study. Thereafter, the main study will be described and critically reviewed with regards to data quality.

3.1 Scientific research approach

This thesis employs a deductive research approach, meaning that hypotheses were developed from existing theory and previous theoretical findings, and subsequently tested in an empirical study (Bell et al., 2019). The aim of this thesis is to contribute to the current body of knowledge on consumer behavior concerning sustainable food consumption. Since the purpose of the main study was to test the causal relationship between different advertising claims and consumption of plant-based meat alternatives, a deductive approach was considered appropriate, in line with Bell et al. (2019). The main study was conducted by means of an experiment in which five different pre-designed treatments were presented to respondents and data was collected by means of a questionnaire. While the chosen approach was considered a good methodological fit for the purpose and scope of this thesis, it has limitations. Hypotheses were mainly based on former theory and research, which poses the risk of having incorrect or incomplete assumptions. Thus, results deviating from the hypotheses were explored with an abductive approach, with the aim to find an explanation to them against the backdrop of the existing body of research, which will be presented in the discussion section (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 1994).

3.2 Theory collection

The thesis work commenced with field investigation of the relevant product category and continued with a comprehensive review of existing research within the fields of marketing and advertising as well as consumer perceptions towards PBMA. Since PBMA are still relatively unexplored, the review expanded to the related field of meat consumption. The theory is based on a wide range of published and peer-reviewed articles to ensure quality. Various academic search databases that are accessible under the Stockholm School of Economics library subscription were primarily utilized to gather theoretical articles online. During this process, potential research questions and hypotheses were continuously formulated and adjusted with the reviewed theories and research.

3.3 Research Design

The main study of this thesis was quantitative with an experimental between-subjects design. Thus, participants were randomly allocated to one of four treatment groups and one control group and shown only one of the five different treatment variants, which is a common approach in marketing research (Söderlund, 2018). For each of the treatments, only the claim was manipulated, thereby serving as an independent variable (Bell et al., 2019). The stimulus (claim) was presented within an advertisement. One group was exposed to an advertisement without a claim and thereby served as control group for the other groups, separately and cumulatively. The participants' responses to the stimuli were measured by a survey that was identical for all groups. A more detailed description of the stimulus and survey design will follow in the sections below.

The chosen research design proved to have several advantages for the purpose of this study. Firstly, the experimental, between-subjects design made it possible to expose and allocate a large sample randomly to different stimuli. This enabled the comparison of the reactions to different stimuli while controlling for alternative explanations, which allowed us to conclude causal relationships (see section 3.7.2; Bell et al., 2019). Secondly, thanks to the experimental and quantitative design, results can be generalized to the general population (see section 3.7.2; Bell et al., 2019).

3.4 Preparations for the Main Study

3.4.1 Pre-study 1: Insights from the Swedish plant-based meat market

In order to get an as current view of the topic as possible and make sure the advertising stimuli was realistic, an interview with the leading Swedish plant-based meat brand, Anamma, was conducted prior to the study. Anamma's Brand manager Malin Rosenqvist was interviewed on February 24th, 2023, to discuss the landscape and target groups of PBMA in Sweden. The full question battery for the interview can be found in Appendix 1.

Indeed, in line with what research has shown, Rosenqvist agrees that major drivers for buying plantbased for all target groups are connected to ethics, environmental friendliness and personal health motives and that advertising and on-pack claims mainly focus on these topics. According to Rosenqvist, there are notable differences in how to market products to the dietary group completely restraining from meat versus the group that eats meat, calling for different marketing strategies to attract different types of consumers. For example, the claim "vegan" is thought to be discouraging or too polarizing among people who consume meat, while it is important for those who do not consume meat, hence it was decided that the tested claims will only focus on ethics (animal welfare), environmental friendliness and health as well as taste. Indeed, another differing factor between the heavy users i.e., vegans and vegetarians, and flexitarians is how the taste of the product is emphasized, Rosenqvist explains:

"The majority of vegans often say they are disgusted by the taste or thought of meat, whereas a large share of the flexitarians we interviewed say they prefer plant-based products that taste familiar, like regular meat"-M.Rosenqvist

This is one reason why Anamma has historically restrained from using taste claims emphasizing meatlike taste on their products, but since the focus of this study is flexitarians and meat eaters, it was deemed appropriate to also create an advertisement with a taste focus, alongside the other three food values (M. Rosenqvist, personal communication, February 24, 2023).

3.4.2 Pre-study 2: Selection of claims

A pre-study (n = 20) was conducted with the purpose of choosing the four stimuli (claims) used in the main study. The pre-study was conducted via Qualtrics and completed on the 21st of March with 20 respondents. All respondents were exposed to eight different claims, two for each food value as explained in section 2.3.3. The claims were adapted from common claims on actual plant-based meat products from different brands on the Swedish, Finnish and German market to ensure that they are generally perceived as realistic. Furthermore, Anamma's brand manager, Malin Rosenqvist, was also consulted to make sure the suggested claims were suitable and realistic for the category of PBMA. We chose rather short and concise claims to minimize the risk of having covariates affecting the dependent variables, in line with the purpose and scope of this study. The claims were presented in a randomized order to each respondent to prevent any potential bias resulting from the order in which the respondents were exposed to the stimuli (Söderlund, 2018).

After exposure to the claim, the respondents were asked the same set of questions. First, *emotionality* and *trustworthiness* were tested through one item, respectively, with a seven-point bipolar scale ranging from "*not trustworthy*" to "*trustworthy*" and "*non-emotional*" to "*emotional*", and the question read "*What is your perception of the claim*?". Although also included as control questions in the main study, the two items were still considered important for the pre-study to gain an understanding of how the different claims performed in terms of these characteristics. Secondly, correct *association* with the desired food value was tested through one item with a multiple-choice question reading "*What is the claim trying to emphasize*?" with the four possible answers covering one of the four food values each. Thirdly, the likelihood of the claim being an actual claim in an advertisement for a plant-based meat product was investigated with a seven-point bipolar scale ranging from "*very unlikely*" to "*very likely*" to make sure that the chosen claims evoked realistic outcomes and validity of the study could be ensured.

When selecting the four claims to be included in the main study, the results regarding *perception as* realistic were considered first. Apart from "Enriched with iron, B2 & B1", all claims received a mean value of over 5.60 and were therefore deemed applicable to be used in the main study. If the two claims covering one food value received a similar mean value for this question, the next step involved determining their proper comprehension, that is, whether they were appropriately linked with the respective food value. This resulted in the choice of the claims "Tasty & meaty" (taste), "Low CO₂ footprint" (environment), "No animals harmed" (animal welfare) and "High in protein & fiber" (health). The first three claims all yielded higher means in both being perceived as realistic and associated with the correct food value, while the chosen health claim yielded a slightly lower result regarding the association with the correct food value than the other health claim, "Enriched with iron, B2 & B1". However, since "High in protein & fiber" vielded a much higher mean regarding perception as realistic, this claim was deemed as more appropriate for the main study. The taste claim "Tasty & *meaty*" received a lower mean score in *trustworthiness* than the other taste claim "Delicious & juicy". However, since "Delicious & juicy" was only associated with the correct food value for 80% of the respondents, we chose "Tasty & meaty" to avoid the risk of misunderstanding of the claim. Moreover, trustworthiness will be included as control variable in the main study and can therefore be controlled for in any tests.

Concerning the variable *trustworthiness*, the claims received mean values ranging from 4.20 to 5.85. Interestingly, the *trustworthiness* of the different claims seemed to depend on which food value they were reflecting; the taste claims both received the lowest mean values concerning *trustworthiness* ($M_{taste} = 4.45$), followed by the two environmental claims ($M_{environment} = 4.90$), the health claims ($M_{health} = 5.15$), and lastly the animal welfare claims ($M_{animals} = 5.63$), in that order. Even larger differences can be seen among the claim pairs when it comes to the variable *emotionality*. The health claims were perceived as least emotional ($M_{health} = 2.33$), followed by the environmental claims ($M_{animals} = 6.08$), which were perceived as most emotional. These findings reinforced the importance to include *trustworthiness* and *emotionality* as covariates in the main study. However, it should be noted that the participants of this pre-study were able to compare the claims with each other, since every participant was exposed to all of them, which will not be the case in the main study. The results for the pre-study are presented in the table below.

	Food choice						
Dependent variable	motive	Stimuli	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Variance	
Perception as	Taste	Delicious & juicy	20	5.60	1.74	3.04	
realistic	2	Tasty & meaty	20	5.70	1.90	3.61	
(1 = strongly)	Environment	Low CO2 footprint	20	5.95	1.02	1.05	
disagree; / =		85% less climate impact	20	5.95	1.36	1.85	

strongly agree)	Health	Enriched with iron, B2 & B12	20	4.95	1.75	3.05		
		High in protein & fiber	20	6.10	0.94	0.89		
	Animal Welfare	No animal harmed	20	5.75	1.55	2.39		
		Cruelty free	20	5.70	1.42	2.01		
Trustworthiness	Taste	Delicious & juicy	20	4.70	1.19	1.41		
(1=not)		Tasty & meaty	20	4.20	0.98	0.96		
trustworthy; 7 =	Environment	Low CO2 footprint	20	4.85	1.39	1.93		
trustworthy)		85% less climate impact	20	4.95	1.32	1.75		
	Health	Enriched with iron, B2 & B12	20	4.95	1.50	2.25		
		High in protein & fiber	20	5.35	1.42	2.03		
	Animal Welfare	No animal harmed	20	5.85	1.06	1.13		
		Cruelty free	20	5.40	1.24	1.54		
Emotionality	Taste	Delicious & juicy	20	5.50	1.12	1.25		
(1= non-emotional;		Tasty & meaty	20	5.10	1.22	1.49		
7 = emotional)	Environment	Low CO2 footprint	20	3.75	1.87	3.49		
		85% less climate impact	20	4.35	1.98	3.93		
	Health	Enriched with iron, B2 & B12	20	2.05	1.07	1.15		
		High in protein & fiber	20	2.60	1.43	2.04		
	Animal Welfare	No animal harmed	20	6.05	1.07	1.15		
		Cruelty free	20	6.10	0.99	0.99		
				% corre was po	ect associatio ssible)	ciation (multiple choice		
Association (with	Taste	Delicious & juicy	20	80.00%)			
correct food choice		Tasty & meaty	20	100.00	100.00%			
motive)	Environment	Low CO2 footprint	20	100.00	%			
		85% less climate impact	20	85.71%	85.71%			
	Health	Enriched with iron, B2 & B12	20	100.00	100.00%			
		High in protein & fiber	20	95.00%	95.00%			
	Animal Welfare	No animal harmed	20	100.00	%			
		Cruelty free	20	90.48%	90.48%			

Table 2: Results of pre-study 2: Claims

3.4.3 Manipulation check

A third pre-study was conducted, serving as a manipulation check to ensure that the stimuli and questionnaire worked without problems. The manipulation check was distributed to participants not included in the later main study (Söderlund, 2018) and was completed on March 28th with a total of 25 participants with at least five respondents per stimulus. Since the main study will be run in Northern Europe and Germany, the manipulation check was also distributed in these countries. After the manipulation check, some adjustments were made to the stimuli and questionnaire. More specifically, the made-up brand "GoodFood" was added since according to participants, the presence of a brand would make the advertisement more realistic. Also, a progress bar was added to the survey, due to respondents expressing feedback regarding the absence of it.

3.5 Main Study

The main study was conducted using a between-subject experimental research design, in which each participant was randomly assigned to one of the five stimuli ads. As in the pre-study, data was collected by means of an online questionnaire designed in Qualtrics, which the respondents completed after being exposed to the stimuli ad.

3.5.1 Stimuli design

As mentioned above, the claims were integrated in an advertisement of a plant-based meat product to allow for a more realistic presentation of the advertisement and elicit realistic reactions. The claims were chosen by means of pre-study 2 (see section 3.4.2).

A burger was chosen as the plant-based meat product shown in the advertisement. Burgers are amongst the most popular products both in the meat and the PBMA product category (Curtain & Grafenauer, 2019; Kyriakopoulou et al., 2021; Statista, 2020). The choice of a burger for the stimuli designs thus reduced any effects on the dependent variables caused by unfamiliarity or reluctance against the product itself. The general liking of burgers was controlled for in the main study. Moreover, the advertisement was kept simple to decrease the likelihood that other factors would influence the dependent variables and to ensure the claim was noticed appropriately. Furthermore, the advertisement included a generic and made-up brand *GoodFood* to represent the category of plant-based food. The decision to not include a real brand was taken in order to avoid any brand associations to affect the results of this study, as this was considered outside the scope for this thesis. The final advertisements were designed in collaboration with a graphic designer to ensure a realistic design. The five final advertisements that were used in the main study are presented in Appendix 2.

3.5.2 Survey design

Data was collected by means of a questionnaire with closed questions, which was deemed a good fit with theory and hypotheses. Surveys are a common approach to test and measure psychological reactions, such as attitudes and preferences, in experiments (Söderlund, 2018). Surveys are time- and resource-efficient and allow for easy processing of answers since answers are coded automatically. Closed questions further improve comparability of answers, which is crucial for exploring cause-effect relationships, and facilitate completion of the questionnaire (Bell et al., 2019).

However, surveys exhibit some disadvantages. The questions or possible answers might be misunderstood or interpreted differently by the respondents (Bell et al., 2019). The respondents might

choose answers without fully reflecting about them in order to finish quickly (Söderlund, 2018). Also, surveys impede delving deeper into or clarifying chosen answers (Eliasson, 2013).

Except for the stimulus, all participants completed the same questionnaire to increase comparability. As mentioned above, participants were allocated to the different groups randomly, with one group serving as control group for the others. For each respondent, the survey started with an introduction to the study and assurance of anonymity and conformance with GDPR. Thereafter, the respondents were introduced to the scenario and provided with some definitions, for instance of plant-based meat products, to avoid any misinterpretation of questions or terms (Malhotra, 2019). The respondents were then exposed to the stimuli and prompted to look at the advertisement carefully, as they were not able to go back to the advertisement during the questionnaire. The questions which followed were presented in the same order for all participants. All questions were phrased in a simple language and were manipulation-checked with participants from different countries to ensure correct understanding and eliminate any potential issues (Söderlund, 2018; Malhotra, 2019; see Section 3.4.3). All questions except for the demographic and food preference measures were closed questions utilizing seven-point Likert or bipolar scales to effectively test the hypotheses (Bell et al., 2019). The full survey can be seen in Appendix 3.

3.5.3 Questionnaire measures

The questionnaire measures were taken from prior relevant studies in the field of consumer behavior. For most constructs, indexes were created, which were further tested for Cronbach's Alpha to assess internal reliability. Most items were measured with a seven-point Likert ranging from "*Strongly disagree*" to "*Strongly agree*" or a bipolar scale, which are scales often employed when measuring attitudes or motivations (Bell et al., 2019) since they allow for measurement of ordinal variables on an interval scale, enabling the calculation of means and standard deviations. Moreover, the odd number of options allows for neutral responses (Malhotra, 2019). The sources and results from the Cronbach's Alpha tests are explained in the following section, with the full questionnaire being presented in Appendix 3.

3.5.3.1 Beliefs

In order to measure the beliefs consumers have about plant-based meat products in general, respondents were asked to rate their agreement with five statements on a seven-point Likert scale. For example, respondents were asked to agree or disagree with *"Buying plant-based meat products instead of conventional/real meat would mean food free from chemicals such as artificial preservatives"*. The statements were adapted from Arvola et al. (2008) who used similar statements to test consumers'

beliefs of organic foods. The items regarding *beliefs* toward PBMA were combined into an index showing high internal reliability with Cronbach's Alpha of .816.

3.5.3.2 Attitudes

As outlined in the theory section, research has proposed to measure attitude toward the ad and attitude toward the behavior separately. Accordingly, attitude_{ad} was tested by asking "What is your opinion on the ad?" and measured on a seven-point bipolar scale with three items reading "It was bad"/"It was good", "I disliked it"/"I liked it" and "Negative opinion"/"Positive opinion". The measures were adapted from Mitchell and Olson (1981). The measures for the respondent's attitude toward the behavior (denoted as attitude) were adapted from Madden et al. (1992), with the question reading "After seeing the ad, what is your opinion on buying a plant-based burger patty?", measured by means of five items. The items were "Bad"/"Good", "Unpleasant"/"Pleasant", "Against"/"For", "Harmful"/"Beneficial" and "Unenjoyable"/"Enjoyable". The items for each attitude construct were combined into an index each, showing high internal reliability indicated by a Cronbach's Alpha of .922 for *attitude*_{ad} and .943 for *attitude*.

3.5.3.3 Subjective norm

Subjective norm was tested by means of four questions with one item each, measured on a seven-point Likert scale. The statements were adapted from Vermeir and Verbeke (2008) and Madden et al. (1992) and read, for instance, "*Most people who are important to me think I should buy a plant-based burger patty next time I prepare a burger*". An index was created regarding *subjective norm* showing high internal reliability with a Cronbach's Alpha of .914.

3.5.3.4 Perceived Behavioral Control

Perceived behavioral control was tested through three questions, adapted from Madden et al. (1992) and Ajzen (2006). The statements read, for example, "*I am confident that, if I wanted to, I could easily buy a plant-based burger patty within the next few weeks*", and were each measured on a seven-point Likert scale. The items regarding *perceived behavioral control* were combined into an index which showed high internal reliability indicated by a Cronbach's Alpha of .763.

3.5.3.5 Food neophobia

Food neophobia is the first of the two constructs utilized to extend the TPB model by Ajzen (1991). The measures for food neophobia were taken from the Food Neophobia Scale (FNS) (Pliner & Hobden,

1992) and were based on a four-item question battery with a seven-point Likert scale. For instance, the respondents were asked to agree or disagree with *"I don't trust new foods"*. An index was created with the measures used for food neophobia and displayed high internal reliability shown by a Cronbach's Alpha of .752.

3.5.3.6 Moral norms

Moral norms is the second of the two constructs with which we extended the original TPB model by Ajzen (1991). Moral norms were tested with four statements, each rated on a seven-point Likert scale. The statements were adapted from Kaiser and Scheuthle (2003) and Arvola et al. (2008) and read, for instance, "Buying plant-based burger patties instead of patties made of conventional/real meat is responsible towards other people/animals/the environment". While some studies testing moral norms rather measure moral obligations, in line with our statements (1) and (2), Arvola et al. (2008) prefer to measure "positive moral attitude", which describes positive self-evaluations resulting from the expected adherence to one's own moral principles. Based on exploratory interviews, Arvola et al. (2008) concluded that measuring positive moral attitudes would be more appropriate in the context of organic food choice. We therefore included statements (3) and (4). An index was created for *moral norms*, showing high internal reliability shown by a Cronbach's Alpha of .924.

3.5.3.7 Behavioral intentions

Behavioral intentions were tested both concerning purchase intention and other intentions that might indicate positive interest in the product, as exposure to one advertisement might not immediately influence a consumer's purchase intention. *Purchase intention* was measured by means of a three-item question battery adapted from Ajzen and Sheikh (2013) and Magnusson et al. (2001) with the statements reading, for instance, "*I intend to buy a plant-based burger patty in the upcoming weeks*". *Other behavioral intentions* were assessed through a three-item battery with the first statement being adapted from Menozzi et al. (2017). The statements read, for example, "*I would be willing to try a plant-based burger patty if it was offered to me for free*". All six behavioral intentions were tested using a seven-point Likert scale. Two indices were created: one for *other behavioral intentions* and one for *purchase intentions*, both showing high internal reliability with Cronbach's Alphas of .732 and .904, respectively.

3.5.3.8 Control and Attention Questions

A few control questions concerning the advertisements and personal characteristics were included in the questionnaire to enable potential further investigation of the variables and controlling for personal
or ad-related factors that might lead to biases. In addition, three attention checks were included to facilitate removal of respondents who were not properly reading the questions or showed signs of fatigue (Bell et al., 2019).

3.5.4 Data collection

Data was collected via online surveys created in Qualtrics. Participants for the pre-studies as well as for the main study were recruited via Facebook and via Prolific, an online platform connecting researchers with participants, used by numerous leading organizations (Palan & Schitter, 2018). Using Prolific enabled us access to a broader sample, particularly in terms of age and income (Palan & Schitter, 2018).

The survey was distributed to individuals living in Finland, Sweden and Germany and data was collected between March 30th and April 13th, 2023. We chose to collect data in several countries to be able to get a larger and broader sample, which is crucial to allow for generalizability of the results (Bell et al., 2019). Moreover, as the two authors of this thesis have roots in Finland, Sweden and Germany, extending the study to those countries allowed recruitment from personal networks, which can be regarded as a convenience/non-probability sample (Bell et al., 2019). The three countries were assumed to have a similar culture and follow similar trends when it comes to meat consumption. A question concerning the country of residence was further included in the survey to be able to control for potential differences. The pre-tests and the main study were therefore held in English for all countries to increase comparability. This was deemed appropriate as most adults in all three countries are fluent in English, while none of the countries has English as the official language. To make sure the stimuli and questionnaire were fully understood in each country, the manipulation check was distributed to participants in each of the countries.

The participants were randomly assigned to different conditions (Pallant, 2013; Söderlund, 2018), with nearly equal numbers of respondents for each of the treatment conditions, each person only completing one survey. Among the 491 individuals who opened the questionnaire, 423 completed it. Three respondents did not accept the GDPR conditions, and two respondents answered falsely to the third attention check question and were therefore removed from the dataset. Additionally, nine respondents were eliminated because their country of residence was neither Sweden, Finland or Germany. Finally, 40 respondents were eliminated because they identified as vegetarians or vegans, groups we chose to exclude from the study as explained in section 1.3. Moreover, the dataset was screened for extreme outliers regarding completion time in combination with the regarded data, but no significant outliers were found. The data collection ultimately resulted in 369 valid respondents.

The table below summarizes the demographic characteristics of the survey respondents, grouped by the ad condition the respondent was exposed to. The results show an even distribution between male and female, with a slight overrepresentation of men. We deliberately targeted flexitarians by posting in Facebook groups containing a major share of flexitarians in order to ensure approximately equal sizes of the dietary groups. The distribution between the three nationalities is also rather even, with a slight overweight of German respondents. We conclude that the demographic variables were balanced and are not expected to have impacted the findings. Additionally, we generally conducted all the tests including covariates such as age, income, gender, country of residence and nationality. However, we observed no significant deviations from the results obtained when these covariates were not included, meaning the results obtained when running tests using covariates produced the same results as when running the tests without using the covariates. Thus, we will not elaborate on them in our analysis.

Ad condition/claim	Environment	Animal welfare	Taste	Health	No claim	Total
Ν	76	84	65	75	69	369
Gender (%)						
Female	45	46	45	47	42	45.0
Male	55	54	54	52	58	54.5
Other	0	0	2	1	0	0.5
Nationality (%)						
German	47	39	49	41	26	40.7
Swedish	28	43	26	36	30	33.1
Finnish	25	18	25	23	44	26.2
Dietary preference	ce (%)					
Meat eater	46	55	48	44	54	49.3
Flexitarian	54	45	52	56	46	50.7
Age (years)						
Min	20	18	20	18	19	18
Max	75	65	61	71	72	75
Mean	35	33	34	33	35	34
Median						30
Meat consumptio	on frequency (# tin	nes per week)				
Mean	4	4	4	3	4	4
PBMA consumpt	ion frequency (# t	imes per week)				
Mean	4	5	5	4	5	5
Household incom	e (€) per month (%	%)				
Less than 1000	17	11	9	13	7	12
1000-2000	15	20	25	23	15	19
2001-3000	13	17	9	17	18	15
3001-4000	12	8	14	11	10	11
4001-5000	9	10	14	4	7	9
5001-6000	13	10	3	1	15	8
6001-7000	1	5	5	9	7	5
7001-8000	3	2	5	3	6	4
More than 8000	7	10	8	12	10	9
Prefer not to say	11	8	9	7	6	8

Table 3: Demographics of the respondents

3.6 Structure and analysis of data

The collected data was directly exported from Qualtrics to IBM SPSS Statistics Version 29 to avoid any human error in the transfer. After elimination of invalid or incomplete responses as described in section 3.5.4, the data was checked for errors (Pallant, 2013). In the *food neophobia* scale used in the survey, one of the items was negatively worded, and was thus reversed when preparing the data for analysis (Pallant, 2013). Multi-item scales were tested for internal reliability using Cronbach's Alpha, and those with a level of .7 or higher were deemed acceptable (Bell et al., 2019; Pallant, 2013). These were combined into index variables.

To test the hypotheses, we split our hypothesized model in two parts: the advertisements affecting beliefs, attitudes and behavioral intentions on the one hand, and the Theory of Planned Behavior on the other hand. The first part will be analyzed in section 4.1.1 and will involve mean comparisons conducted with independent-samples t-tests, one-way ANOVAs and one-way MANOVAs. The second part of the model will involve multiple linear regressions and will be analyzed in section 4.1.2. The add-on program Hayes's PROCESS tool for SPSS v4.2 was further installed for mediation and moderation analyses. We acknowledge that a better way to test our hypothesized model would have been the use of *Structural Equation Modeling (SEM)*. Due to the complexity of this statistical analysis technique and the limited scope of this thesis, we decided in agreement with our supervisor that the split of the model is adequate for our purposes. In order to minimize the likelihood of Type I errors, we utilize an alpha level of .05, implying a confidence level of 95%.

For the mean comparison tests, the data was first checked for uni- and multivariate normality of the dependent variables by using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistic and Mahalanobis Distance. Although some variables violated the assumption of normality of distribution, the tests were still regarded as applicable to our data since MANOVAs and ANOVAs are relatively robust to violations of normality (Pallant, 2013). Secondly, the data was checked for outliers, but no significant outliers were found. Thirdly, linearity between each pair of dependent variables was confirmed and no multicollinearity was found. Fourthly, homogeneity of variance-covariance-matrices was confirmed with Box's M test of Equality of Covariance Matrices (Pallant, 2013).

For the linear regressions, some additional tests were conducted. Multicollinearity between independent variables was tested by means of the VIF and Tolerance value but found absent. Normality of the distribution of the residuals was assessed with the P-P plot and scatter plot and confirmed. Finally, homoscedasticity was confirmed with the Breusch-Pagan test. After testing the assumptions, we concluded that we can perform all tests as desired.

3.7 Critical review of data quality

Quantitative studies involve the risk of a lack of quality of the collected data (Bell et al., 2019). Thus, the data quality has been critically reviewed by looking at reliability, validity and replicability. The three factors are discussed below.

3.7.1 Reliability

Reliability of a study is concerned with the question whether the data collection and analytical methods produce consistent results if the study were to be replicated (Bell et al., 2019). Two dimensions of reliability are deemed relevant for this study: stability and internal reliability.

Stability implies that if a test or measure is repeated with the same sample and contextual conditions twice, the findings should be similar with little variation over time (Bell et al., 2019). To ensure stability of our measures, we conducted a pre-study testing the claims and a manipulation check to test the manipulation and the questionnaire.

All questionnaire measures were adapted from previous academic papers, which were checked for credibility by inspecting the number of citations and quality of the journal in which it was published. All multi-item scales were tested for internal reliability by using Cronbach's alpha before being combined to an index, to ensure they are measuring the same intended variable (Bell et al., 2019). All scales scored a Cronbach's alpha exceeding 0.7, statistically justifying the creation of index variables and showing high internal reliability (Söderlund, 2019).

3.7.2 Validity

Validity is often seen as the most crucial criterion of research and can be divided in four components: internal validity, measurement validity, external validity and ecological validity, all of which will be discussed below (Bell et al, 2019).

Internal validity concerns the question whether we can infer with confidence that manipulation of the stimuli causes variation in the dependent variables, and not something else (Bell et al., 2019). The internal validity in this study is deemed satisfactory due to the experimental design of the study. Respondents were allocated randomly to one of the stimuli designs, ensuring that sample sizes were more or less equal. The advertisement was deliberately designed in a way that it resembled real advertisements, while ensuring that no associations to an existing product or brand could be drawn. The claim in the advertisements was the only parameter that differed between the treatment groups while

everything else was kept equal, which enabled us to attribute differences in the dependent variables to the independent variable (Söderlund, 2018). Nevertheless, it should be noted that despite trying to construct the claims in the advertisements as similar as possible, for instance in terms of length of the claim, we cannot with certainty state that there might not have been other factors influencing reactions. Control and demographics questions were included in the questionnaire to be able to test for other factors potentially influencing the effect on the dependent variables. Lastly, the claims were pre-tested, and the main study was pilot tested to eliminate issues in understanding of the survey and its questions. Summarized, the internal validity of this study is considered satisfactory.

To ensure measurement validity, measurement scales were constructed according to previous research and the tested relationships were based on previous research. The claims and questionnaire were pretested to ensure correct understanding. According to Bell et al. (2019), measurement validity is further related to reliability: by ensuring stability and internal reliability of our measures, we ensured that our measures could be considered valid (Bell et al., 2019).

External validity addresses whether the study findings can be generalized to the larger population, beyond the specific research context (Bell et al., 2019). Due to the scope and timeframe of this master thesis, we had to make a necessary trade-off between time and cost of data collection and the number of respondents. On average, 73.8 responses were collected per treatment group with a range from 65 to 84 respondents per stimuli. Although random allocation was supposed to ensure equal numbers in all groups, the fact that we needed to exclude many responses, mainly due to incompletion of the survey, impeded equal numbers in all groups. Moreover, by using Prolific besides distributing the survey in the authors' social circles, generalizability could be increased since Prolific allowed us to recruit respondents from a broader population (Palan & Schitter, 2018). The sample groups were relatively evenly distributed between genders, dietary preferences, income and ages. However, the sample is rather skewed towards younger respondents, with a median age of 30, likely a consequence of the survey being spread among peers of the authors of this thesis. The findings should therefore rather be generalized to younger people. Moreover, data was only collected in Sweden, Finland and Germany, implying that our findings can only be generalized for these three markets and other markets similar to them. In summary, the external validity is deemed acceptable given the scope of the study.

Finally, ecological validity assesses whether the findings are applicable to everyday life (Bell et al., 2019). Due to the scope of the thesis, some active decisions needed to be made on how to make the experiment feasible. This involved measuring constructs such as attitudes and behavioral intentions with self-reported data instead of assessing people's actual behavior in real life. The stimuli were designed as realistically as possible by taking the interview with Anamma into consideration and using claims seen in the actual market. However, typical components of an advertisement such as a price or (known) brand needed to be excluded to avoid other factors to influence the dependent variables besides

the claims. This likely influenced how realistic the advertisement was perceived by the respondents. Moreover, answering a questionnaire can induce a feeling of unnaturalness to the respondent (Bell et al., 2019). In summary, there is room for improvement regarding ecological validity, but the scope of this thesis leads to some necessary sacrifices in ecological validity, which is why overall ecological validity is considered acceptable.

3.7.3 Replicability

Replicability of the study was ensured by using widely used multi-scale measures that have already been successfully replicated by other researchers. Moreover, theory, method and analysis are described in detail, ensuring replicability of the experiment. Additionally, the full questionnaire is included in Appendix 3. The study is thus deemed to ensure replicability.

4 Analysis and results

In the following section the data from the quantitative survey will be analyzed and hypotheses presented in section 2.3 will be tested. This section will also present findings connected to the secondary research question. The proposed conceptual model is again presented below, making it easier for the reader to follow along.



Figure 2: Conceptual model reminder

4.1 Hypothesis testing

In this section, each of the hypotheses as outlined in section 2.3 will be tested. The presentation of the findings will follow the same order as the hypotheses were presented in chapter 2.3, starting with the effect of the claims, followed by results connected to the TPB.

4.1.1 Claims

4.1.1.1 Exposure to a claim

Hypothesis H1 suggested that a claim embedded in a PBMA advertisement will have a positive effect on the dependent variables *beliefs*, *attitude_{ad}*, *attitude*, *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions* as compared to an advertisement without a claim. For this purpose, we created a dummy variable of *ad condition*, with 0 = "Not exposed" and 1 = "Exposed to a claim", which we called *exposure to claim*. Thus, the four groups exposed to a claim were merged into one here. We ran a oneway between-subjects MANOVA with the independent variable *exposure to claim* and the dependent variables *beliefs*, *attitude_{ad}*, *attitude*, *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions*. The multivariate test presented statistically significant differences between the group exposed to a claim and the group not exposed to a claim on the combined dependent variables (p < .001). When looking at the dependent variables separately, we used a Bonferroni adjusted alpha level of .01 since multiple statistical tests were performed simultaneously (Field, 2018; Harris, 1975; Pallant, 2013). The variables *attitude* (p < .001) and *other behavioral intentions* (p = .005) showed statistically significant differences between the two groups, while *purchase intentions* (p = .032) showed a tendency to be significant, although not significant on the Bonferroni adjusted alpha level. For the significant variables, the group exposed to a claim presented higher means. Since the difference between the group exposed to a claim and the group not exposed to a claim is significant for some of the dependent variables, H1 is partially supported. Table 4 presents the full results.

Dependent variable	Exposure to claim	Ν	Mean	Std. Error	F	р	Partial Eta Squared
Beliefs	Not exposed	69	4.000	.144			
	Exposed to a claim	300	4.199	.069	1.540	.215	.004
Attitudead	Not exposed	69	5.024	.158			
	Exposed to a claim	300	4.999	.076	.021	.886	.000
Attitude	Not exposed	69	4.380	.174			
	Exposed to a claim	300	5.092	.083	13.623	.0002***	.036
Other behavioral	Not exposed	69	4.280	.171			
intentions	Exposed to a claim	300	4.821	.082	8.143	.005**	.022
Purchase intentions	Not exposed	69	3.034	.213			
	Exposed to a claim	300	3.542	.102	4.630	.032	.012

* = $p \le .01$, ** = $p \le .002$, *** = $p \le .0002$ (Bonferroni adjusted)

Table 4: Statistical analysis for H1

H1: A PBMA advertisement containing a claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.

- a. Beliefs not supported
- b. Attitude towards the ad (Attitude_{ad}) *not supported*
- c. Attitude towards the behavior (Attitude) supported
- d. Other behavioral intentions supported
- e. Purchase intentions not supported

H1 PARTIALLY SUPPORTED

4.1.1.2 Effects of the different claims

Hypotheses H2a – H2d suggested positive effects of each of the different claims on the dependent variables *beliefs*, *attitude_{ad}*, *attitude*, *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions* when compared to the no claim condition. This was tested by means of independent-samples t-tests.

Concerning the taste claim (H2a), a statistically significant difference between the claim condition and the no-claim condition was only found regarding the variable *attitude* ($M_{taste} = 4.91$, $M_{no \ claim} = 4.38$; p = .031), with a higher mean showcased in the exposed group. Although not statistically significant (p > .05), the exposed group presented higher means regarding all other dependent variables, except for the variable *attitude_{ad}*, which showed a higher mean for the unexposed group. Hypothesis H2a can therefore be partially supported. The full results can be seen in Table 5.

Dependent variable	Ad condition	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	Two-Sided p	Cohen's d
Beliefs	Taste	65	4.034	1.218			
	No claim	69	4.000	1.165	.164	.870	.028
Attitude _{ad}	Taste	65	4.687	1.273			
	No claim	69	5.024	1.155	-1.606	.111	278
Attitude	Taste	65	4.914	1.457			
	No claim	69	4.380	1.384	2.176	.031*	.376
Other behavioral intentions	Taste	65	4.718	1.418			
	No claim	69	4.280	1.317	1.853	.066	.320
Purchase intentions	Taste	65	3.431	1.813			
	No claim	69	3.034	1.618	1.339	.183	.231

 ${}^{*}=p\leq.05,\,{}^{**}=p\leq.01,\,{}^{***}=p\leq.001$

Table 5: Statistical analysis for H2a

The independent-samples t-tests regarding the health claim (H2b) showed significant differences for the variables *beliefs* ($M_{health} = 4.41$, $M_{no \ claim} = 4.00$; p = .030), *attitude* ($M_{health} = 5.15$, $M_{no \ claim} = 4.38$; p = .001), other behavioral intentions ($M_{health} = 4.97$, $M_{no \ claim} = 4.28$; p = .002) and *purchase intentions* ($M_{health} = 3.88$, $M_{no \ claim} = 3.03$; p = .004), with higher means presented in the group exposed to the health claim. There was no significant difference in *attitude_{ad}* (p > .05), even though the mean was also higher in the exposed group. Hypothesis H2b is thus partially supported. The detailed results are presented in the table below.

Dependent variable	Ad condition	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	Two-Sided p	Cohen's d
Beliefs	Health	75	4.411	1.084			
	No claim	69	4.000	1.165	2.191	.030*	.365
Attitudead	Health	75	5.116	1.318			
	No claim	69	5.024	1.155	.441	.660	.074
Attitude	Health	75	5.149	1.377			
	No claim	69	4.380	1.384	3.343	.001***	.558
Other behavioral intentions	Health	75	4.973	1.361			
	No claim	69	4.280	1.317	3.101	.002**	.517
Purchase intentions	Health	75	3.880	1.844			
	No claim	69	3.034	1.618	2.916	.004**	.486
$* = p \le .05, ** = p \le .01, *** =$	= p ≤ .001						

Table 6: Statistical analysis for H2b

The independent-samples t-test comparing the environmental claim group with the no claim group (H2c) showed statistically significant differences in terms of the dependent variables *attitude* ($M_{environment} = 5.15$, $M_{no \ claim} = 4.38$; p = .001) and *other behavioral intentions* ($M_{environment} = 4.80$, $M_{no \ claim} = 4.28$; p = .025), with higher means presented in the group exposed to the claim. The group exposed to the environmental claim also showed higher means regarding all other dependent variables; however, these differences were not statistically significant (p > .05). Hypothesis H2c is therefore partially supported. See Table 7 for the full results.

Dependent variable	Ad condition	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	Two-Sided p	Cohen's d
Beliefs	Environment	76	4.208	1.261			
	No claim	69	4.000	1.165	1.028	.306	.171
Attitudead	Environment	76	5.053	1.326			
	No claim	69	5.024	1.155	.137	.891	.023
Attitude	Environment	76	5.153	1.408			
	No claim	69	4.380	1.384	3.328	.001***	.553
Other behavioral intentions	Environment	76	4.798	1.429			
	No claim	69	4.280	1.317	2.263	.025*	.376
Purchase intentions	Environment	76	3.346	1.740			
	No claim	69	3.034	1.618	1.117	.264	.186

 ${}^{*}=p\leq.05,\,{}^{**}=p\leq.01,\,{}^{***}=p\leq.001$

Table 7: Statistical analysis for H2c

Finally, the independent-samples t-tests regarding the animal welfare claim (H2d) showed statistically significant differences concerning the variables *attitude* ($M_{animal welfare} = 5.12$; $M_{no \ claim} = 4.38$; p = .003) and *other behavioral intentions* ($M_{animal \ welfare} = 4.79$; $M_{no \ claim} = 4.28$; p = .034), with higher means displayed in the group exposed to the claim. The t-tests assessing the other dependent variables did not display statistically significant results (p > .05), even though they also display higher means in the group exposed to the claim than in the unexposed group. Hypothesis H2d is thus partially supported. The results are displayed in the table below.

Dependent variable	Ad condition	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	Two-Sided p	Cohen's d
Beliefs	Animal Welfare	84	4.129	1.245			
	No claim	69	4.000	1.165	.654	.514	.106
Attitude _{ad}	Animal Welfare	84	5.087	1.438			
	No claim	69	5.024	1.155	.295	.768	.048
Attitude	Animal Welfare	84	5.124	1.587			
	No claim	69	4.380	1.384	3.056	.003**	.497
Other behavioral intentions	Animal Welfare	84	4.786	1.554			
	No claim	69	4.280	1.317	2.143	.034*	.348
Purchase intentions	Animal Welfare	84	3.504	1.803			
	No claim	69	3.034	1.618	1.680	.095	.273

 $^{*}=p\leq.05,\,^{**}=p\leq.01,\,^{***}=p\leq.001$

Table 8: Statistical analysis for H2d

H2a/b/c/d: A PBMA advertisement containing a(n) taste / health / environmental / animal welfare claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.

- a. Beliefs
- b. Attitude towards the ad (Attitude_{ad})
- c. Attitude towards the behavior (Attitude)
- d. Other behavioral intentions
- e. Purchase intentions

	Taste	Health	Environment	Animal welfare
a. Beliefs	Not supported	Supported	Not supported	Not supported
b. Attitude _{ad}	Not supported	Not supported	Not supported	Not supported
c. Attitude	Supported	Supported	Supported	Supported
d. Other behavioral intentions	Not supported	Supported	Supported	Supported
e. Purchase intentions	Not supported	Supported	Not supported	Not supported
	H2a PARTIALLY SUPPORTED	H2b PARTIALLY SUPPORTED	H2c PARTIALLY SUPPORTED	H2d PARTIALLY SUPPORTED

Table 9: Summary of statistical tests for hypotheses H2

4.1.1.3 Differences between claims

In addition to testing for statistically significant differences between each exposed group and the nonexposed group, we investigated differences comparing the different exposed groups with each other, in order to be able to answer the first research question in a more nuanced manner. Therefore, we ran a one-way between-subjects MANOVA with the same dependent variables as in the t-tests and the independent variable *ad condition*. Using Wilks' Lambda, the results implied a statistically significant difference between the different levels of *ad condition* on the combined dependent variables (p = .006). When looking at the dependent variables separately, the only statistically significant difference was displayed for *attitude* (p = .006) (see Table 10). Post hoc tests using the Tukey HSD test (Field, 2018; Pallant, 2013), comparing each of the *ad condition* groups with each other for the dependent variable *attitude* revealed statistically significant differences only between the no claim group and each of the claim groups, but not between the groups that were exposed to a claim. Thus, the results presented in section 4.1.1.2 indicate that there are differences between the four different groups that were exposed to a claim, but this MANOVA shows that they are not significant.

Dependent variable	F	р	Partial Eta Squared				
Beliefs	1.354	.249	.015				
Attitudead	1.198	.311	.013				
Attitude	3.708	.006**	.039				
Other behavioral intentions	2.344	.054	.025				
Purchase intentions	2.153	.074	.023				
$* = p \le .01, ** = p \le .002, *** = p \le .0002$ (Bonferroni adjusted)							

Table 10: One-way MANOVA: differences between claims

4.1.1.4 Ad perception

To explore potential reasons for different effects of different claims on the dependent variables, we ran three one-way ANOVAs for the ad perception variables, namely *trustworthiness, emotion* and *informativeness*. The results are presented in the table below and show a significant difference between the claims regarding *emotion* (p = .011) and *informativeness* (p < .001). Regarding *emotion*, post-hoc tests using the Tukey HSD test showed that only the mean scores for the animal welfare claim and the no claim condition differed significantly (p = .004). Concerning *informativeness*, the environmental claim (p = .015) as well as the health claim (p < .001) differed significantly from the no claim condition.

Dependent variable	Ad condition	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	F	р	Eta Squared
Trustworthiness	Environment	76	5.263	1.389			
	Animal Welfare	84	5.250	1.389			
	Taste	65	4.969	1.413			
	Health	75	5.547	1.425			
	No claim	69	5.000	1.082			
	Total	369	5.217	1.272	2.235	.065	.024
Emotion	Environment	76	3.605	1.609			
	Animal Welfare	84	4.036	1.711			
	Taste	65	3.492	1.288			
	Health	75	3.507	1.474			
	No claim	69	3.174	1.306			
	Total	369	3.583	1.520	3.304	.011*	.035
Informativeness	Environment	76	4.500	1.609			
	Animal Welfare	84	4.321	1.711			
	Taste	65	4.123	1.288			
	Health	75	4.773	1.474			
	No claim	69	3.696	1.306			
	Total	369	4.298	1.520	5.020	<.001***	.052

 ${}^{*}=p\leq.05,\,{}^{**}=p\leq.01,\,{}^{***}=p\leq.001$

Table 11: One-way ANOVAs: ad perception

4.1.1.5 Mediators

H3a, H3b and H3c propose *beliefs, attitude_{ad}* and *attitude* to function as mediators in the effect of *exposure to claim* on *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions*. For the purpose of testing

these proposed mediation effects, Hayes's bootstrapping macro PROCESS for SPSS was used. Model 4 was used and the tests were run at a 95% confidence interval. We conducted bootstrapping with n = 5,000 bootstrap samples to avoid non-normality of the sampling distribution of the indirect effect (Preacher & Hayes, 2008). The results were interpreted according to Zhao et al. (2010).

The table below presents the indirect effects for the tested mediation relationships. The only variable found to be significantly mediating the effect of *exposure to claim* on both *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions* is *attitude*, since the two respective confidence intervals (BootLLCI to BootULCI) did not include zero. Moreover, since the direct effects of *exposure to claim* on *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions* and *purchase intentions* was insignificant in both cases ($p_{other behavioral intentions = .564$; $p_{purchase intentions} = .901$), we can conclude that we have *indirect-only mediation* (Zhao et al., 2010). This implies that *attitude* fully mediates the effect of a claim on *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions*.



Figure 3: Attitude towards the behavior as mediator

Dependent	Madiator		Direct effect				Indirect effect			
variable	Mediator	Effect	se	t	р	Effect	BootSE	BootLLCI	BootULCI	
Other behavioral intentions	Beliefs	.419	.162	2.577	.010	.123	.098	068	.324	
Other behavioral intentions	Attitudead	.553	.170	3.262	.001	012	.079	168	.141	
Other behavioral intentions	Attitude	.085	.147	.578	.564	.456	.122	.223	.707	
Purchase intentions	Beliefs	.346	.197	1.753	.081	.162	.130	090	.419	
Purchase intentions	Attitudead	.523	.214	2.438	.015	014	.092	192	.173	
Purchase intentions	Attitude	024	.191	124	.901	.532	.146	.259	.825	

Table 12: Statistical analysis for H3

H3a: *Beliefs* mediate the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives. *Not supported*

H3b: $Attitude_{ad}$ mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives. *Not supported*

H3c: *Attitude* mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives. *Supported*

H3 PARTIALLY SUPPORTED

4.1.2 The Theory of Planned Behavior

4.1.2.1 Attitude, subjective norms and perceived behavioral control

Hypotheses H4 are connected to the Theory of Planned Behavior and seek to determine whether *attitude* (H4a), *subjective norm* (H4b) and *perceived behavioral control* (H4c) can be used to explain *purchase intentions*. More specifically, a multiple linear regression was utilized to determine whether the independent variables *attitude, subjective norm* and *perceived behavioral control* significantly influence the dependent variable *purchase intentions*. The results indicate that *attitude* and *subjective norm* both have a significant effect on *purchase intentions* (p < .001). However, the regression analysis shows that *behavioral control* is not significant in explaining *purchase intentions* (p = .977). The results thus indicate that H4a and H4b are supported, whereas H4c is not. Considering the significant independent variables, *subjective norm* (b = .525) is found to have a larger positive effect than *attitude* (b = .467). Lastly, the adjusted R² value for the regression model is R²_{Adjusted} = .55, meaning that 55% of the variance in the dependent variable can be explained by the independent variables. The results from the regression analysis are summarized in the table below.

	В	Std. Error	t	Sig.
(Constant)	651	.415	568	.118
Attitude	.467	.049	9.519	<.001***
Subjective norm	.525	.044	12.050	<.001***
Perceived behavioral control	002	.065	029	.977
N	369			
Adjusted R Square	.553			
F (3, 365)	152.948			
$* = p \le .05, ** = p \le .01, *** =$	= p ≤ .001			

Table 13: Statistical analysis for H4

H4a: Attitude has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative. *Supported*

H4b: Subjective norm has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative. *Supported*

H4c: Perceived behavioral control has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative. *Not supported*

H4 PARTIALLY SUPPORTED

Hypothesis H5 and H6 aim to establish whether *food neophobia* (H5) and *moral norms* (H6) can further explain purchase intentions towards plant-based meat alternatives alongside the other three components of the TPB. The regression analysis with the three independent variables *attitude*, *subjective norms* and *perceived behavioral control* will from now on in the text be referred to as *TPB*_{Original} and the regression with all the five independent variables will be referred to as *TPB*_{Extended}.

The findings show that the $TPB_{Extended}$ regression predicts a larger share of the purchase intentions connected to plant-based meat alternatives, since the adjusted R² increased by two percentage points to R²_{Adjusted} = .57, compared to R²_{Adjusted} = .55 in the $TPB_{Original}$. Looking at each independent variable separately, it can be noted that *attitude* and *subjective norm* remain significant (p <.001) and *perceived behavioral control* remains insignificant (p = .896). Zooming in on the additional independent variables, the data shows that *moral norms* are significant (p <.001) in predicting *purchase intentions*, whereas *food neophobia* is not (p = .870). Although not significant, contrary to what was hypothesized the relationship between *food neophobia* and *purchase intentions* is positive. Among the significant independent variables, *subjective norm* is still the most positive predictor variable of *purchase intentions* (b = .410), followed by *attitude* (b = .369) and *moral norms* (b = .244). To conclude, H5 is not supported and H6 is supported.

	В	Std. Error	t	Sig.
(Constant)	896	.464	-1.932	.054
Attitude	.369	.054	6.865	<.001***
Subjective norm	.410	.050	8.161	<.001***
Perceived behavioral control	008	.064	130	.896
Moral norms	.244	.058	4.241	<.001***
Food neophobia	.008	.046	.164	.870
N	369			
Adjusted R Square	.572			
F (5, 363)	99.562			

 $p = p \le .05, p = p \le .01, p = p \le .001$

Table 14: Statistical analysis for H5 and H6

H5: Food neophobia has a negative impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.

H5 NOT SUPPORTED

H6: Moral norms regarding consumption of plant-based meat alternatives have a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.

H6 SUPPORTED

4.2 Secondary research question: Claims and dietary preference

To be able to answer the secondary research question whether *dietary preference* has an effect on the impact of advertising claims, Hayes's PROCESS tool for SPSS was used with 5,000 bootstrap samples. Model 1 and a 95% confidence interval were used. The tests were run both for a recoded version of *ad condition* and the dummy variable *exposure to claim*. *Ad condition* was recoded to assign the value 1 to "no claim", since this allowed computation of interaction effects for the four groups that were exposed to a claim and comparison to the no claim condition. The moderation variable was *dietary preference*, and the dependent variables were *attitude* and *other behavioral intentions*, since they had been found to be significantly affected by the claims (see sections 4.1.1.1 and 4.1.1.3).

When using the dummy variable *exposure to claim* and thus comparing the whole group exposed to a claim to the group not exposed to a claim, a significant moderation effect of *dietary preference* was found on the dependent variable *attitude* (see Table 15). Zooming in on the conditional effects at different levels of *dietary preference*, the results revealed that *dietary preference* played a moderating role in the effect of *exposure to ad* on *attitude* only for flexitarians (see Table 16). Looking at the different claim



Figure 4: Effect of ad condition on attitude, influenced by dietary preference

conditions separately by using the independent variable *ad condition*, the moderation analysis further revealed that the interaction effects for the environmental claim and for the taste claim were significantly moderated by *dietary preference*. A tendency could also be found for the animal welfare and the health claim at a 10% significance level (see Table 17). The moderation analyses for the dependent variable *other behavioral intentions* did not yield significant results, implying that *dietary preference* did not moderate the effect of the claims on intentions.

Dependent variable	Interaction coefficient	SE	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
Attitude	.933	.368	2.534	.012*	.209	1.657
Other behavioral intentions	.371	.340	1.093	.275	297	1.039

 $p = p \le .05, p = p \le .01, p = p \le .001$

Table 15: Results from moderation analyses, interaction coefficients for all tested dependent variables (X = exposure to claim)

Dietary preference	Effect	SE	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
Meat eater	.227	.253	.894	.372	272	.725
Flexitarian	1.159	.267	4.340	.000***	.634	1.685

 $* = p \le .05, ** = p \le .01, *** = p \le .001$

Table 16: Results from moderation analysis, conditional effects at values of the moderator ($X = \exp o$ to claim, Y = attitude)

Group	Interaction coefficient	SE	t	р	LLCI	ULCI
X1 (Environmental claim)	1.100	461	2.384	.018*	.193	2.007
X2 (Animal welfare claim)	.806	.451	1.788	.075	081	1.693
X3 (Taste claim)	.959	.479	2.001	.046*	.017	1.901
X4 (Health claim)	.908	.464	1.958	.051	004	1.820
* . 05 ** . 01 **	k < 001					

 $p = p \le .05, p = p \le .01, p = p \le .001$

Table 17: Results from moderation analysis for different levels of X (X = ad condition, Y = attitude)

4.3 Summary of findings

Summary of Results from Hypotheses testing						
	H1: A PBMA advertisement containing a claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.	PARTIALLY SUPPORTED				
RQ1: Impact of advertising claims	H2a: A PBMA advertisement containing a positive taste claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.	PARTIALLY SUPPORTED				
	H2b: A PBMA advertisement containing a health claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.	PARTIALLY SUPPORTED				
	H2c: A PBMA advertisement containing an environmental claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.	PARTIALLY SUPPORTED				
	H2d: A PBMA advertisement containing an animal welfare claim has a more positive effect on the dependent variables (a-e) ¹ compared to a PBMA advertisement without a claim.	PARTIALLY SUPPORTED				
	H3a: Beliefs mediate the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives.	NOT SUPPORTED				
	H3b : Attitude _{ad} mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives.	NOT SUPPORTED				
	H3c : Attitude mediates the effect of advertising claims on behavioral intentions of plant-based meat alternatives.	SUPPORTED				
RQ2: Factors influencing consumer decision-making regarding PBMA	H4a: Attitude has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.	SUPPORTED				
	H4b: Subjective norm has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.	SUPPORTED				
	H4c : Perceived behavioral control has a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat alternative.	NOT SUPPORTED				
	H5: Food neophobia has a negative impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.	NOT SUPPORTED				
	H6 : Moral norms regarding consumption of plant-based meat alternatives have a positive impact on purchase intentions towards a plant-based meat substitute.	SUPPORTED				

The following table summarizes the findings from the statistical tests.

Table 18: Summary of findings from hypothesis testing

5 Discussion

Chapter five will discuss the results from the hypothesis testing in the light of the research questions. The chapter concludes with a discussion regarding the secondary research question.

5.1 Discussion of the results from hypothesis testing

5.1.1 Effect of advertising claims

This section will start by discussing the first research question:

1. What is the impact of different advertising claims, namely health, environmental, taste and animal welfare on consumers' beliefs, attitudes and behavioral intentions towards plant-based meat alternatives?

The findings from hypothesis H1 presented significantly higher means for the group exposed to a claim compared to the group not exposed to a claim for the variables *attitude* and *other behavioral intentions*, and a tendency could be found for *purchase intentions*, albeit not significant. The existence of a claim did not lead to statistically significant mean differences regarding *beliefs* or *attitude_{ad}*. Follow-up mediation analyses, tested according to hypotheses H3, have shown that *attitude* fully mediates both the effect of the claims on *other behavioral intentions* and *purchase intentions*.

The effect of advertising claims on *attitude* and *intentions* as well as the mediating role of *attitude* are in line with traditional marketing literature (Kim et al., 2009; MacKenzie et al., 1986; Mitchell & Olson, 1981). Moreover, we can see the strongest magnitude of effect in terms of difference in means regarding the variable attitude, followed by other behavioral intentions and lastly purchase intentions. This means, that even if positive attitudes towards the behavior had been formed after seeing the claim, they did not necessarily translate to intentions. In marketing theory, this is commonly called the *attitude*behavior gap (Vermeir & Verbeke, 2006) and implies that behavioral intentions are affected by other factors besides *attitude*, which is why the TPB will be discussed later. The attitude-behavior gap has been acknowledged in other contexts of environmental consumerism as a barrier for greener consumption and might be one explanation as to why our results show a lower impact of advertising claims on actual intentions (Gupta & Ogden, 2006). Furthermore, product- and brand-related factors such as price, convenience or brand familiarity might be factors influencing behavioral intentions (Carrigan & Attalla, 2001). Indeed, the absence of a real, known brand, which is often found to be a mediator in marketing theory, might explain the lower effects on purchase intentions in this study (MacKenzie et al., 1986). The presence of an established brand on a PBMA packaging was seen to increase purchase intentions in a study conducted in the U.S., indicating that the inclusion of a known German, Swedish or Finnish brand could have led to higher purchase intentions in our case (Van Loo et al., 2020).

The differences in means between the two groups were not significant regarding *beliefs* and *attitude_{ad}*, which is inconsistent with a large part of advertising literature (MacKenzie et al., 1986; Mitchell & Olson, 1981). Beliefs about product attributes are often found to be a major mediator of the effect of advertising content on attitudes, which also contradicts our findings. One possible explanation for the absence of an effect of the advertisement on beliefs is that people who do not identify as vegan or vegetarians have been noted to hold strong beliefs, and even negative stigma towards plant-based diets and products, making it difficult to alter these beliefs (Markowski & Roxburgh, 2019). Furthermore, the notion of meat attachment might also be a hinder to altering flexitarians', and especially meat eaters' beliefs about PBMA (Nezlek & Forestell, 2022).

Many studies in advertising literature further find significant effects of *ad content* on *attitude_{ad}* and found *attitude_{ad}* to partially mediate attitude formation, together with *beliefs* (Holbrook, 1978; MacKenzie et al., 1986; Mitchell & Olson, 1981). Our results, in contrast, do not imply any significant impact of *ad content* on *attitude_{ad}*; in fact, the means between the groups exposed to a claim and the groups not exposed to any claim are almost equal. A potential explanation could be that advertisements used in other studies (e.g., Mitchell and Olson, 1981) had more elements that varied between the different conditions such as the (non)existence of a picture or a claim. In contrast, our advertisements only differed in the claims and therefore might not have affected the respondents' attitude toward the advertisement as much as in other studies.

5.1.1.1 Differences between claims

The findings from hypotheses H2a to H2d, in combination with those from H1, indicate that exposure to a claim as compared to no claim significantly affects *attitude* and *other behavioral intentions*, but interestingly, the effects of the different claims do not differ significantly. Our study therefore indicates that having a claim on the product is better than not having a claim, but it does not matter what kind of claim is chosen for the plant-based meat product.

Even though we did not find significant differences between the four claims, there are tendencies that point to the health claim "*High in protein and fiber*" performing the best, whereas the taste claim "*Tasty & meaty*" seems to have performed on the lowest level. Indeed, the health claim was the only claim that had a significant positive effect on *beliefs*, when comparing to the no claim condition. Furthermore, according to our survey, the health claim was perceived the most informative and trustworthy out of the four claims. Indeed, the perceived informativeness, or factualness of message content has been found to have a positive effect on beliefs in prior research, which could explain the rather good performance

of the health claim (Holbrook, 1978). However, it is important to note that while some studies have concluded that informative or factual advertisements are more effective (Aaker & Norris, 1982), other studies have found the opposite, concluding that emotional messaging trumps (Goldberg & Gorn, 1987) which is why the success of the health claim cannot be explained by the informativeness alone. Reasons as to why individuals continue to eat meat often includes concerns regarding the nutritional profile of PBMA, for example inadequate levels of proteins and other nutrients (Tso & Forde, 2021). Therefore, a claim stating *"High in protein and fiber"* might indeed resonate well with flexitarians and meat eaters. This notion is also supported by Spendrup & Hovmalm (2022). Furthermore, on the basis of the expectancy-value theory and in the context of food advertising, it is often suggested that advertising claims that align with consumers' anticipated product attributes are perceived as most persuasive (Feng & Park, 2018). According to this notion, it could be suggested that PBMA might be seen more as a functional product in the eyes of flexitarians and meat eaters, meaning it is better marketed using nutritional claims as opposed to taste claims, which are better suited when marketing hedonic foods. This congruency between anticipated product attributes and advertising claim, when it comes to hedonic versus functional foods is widely researched and confirmed (Cheong & Kim, 2011; Choi et al., 2013).

The weaker success of both the environmental and animal welfare claims in our study contrasts with what was found in previous research on PBMA menu items, which found that a social claim (a combination of an animal welfare and environmental claim) had a significantly higher influence on consumer preference than taste and health claims (Ye & Mattila, 2021). Indeed, it is possible that individuals who consume meat do not wish to be reminded of the negative effects meat consumption has on the environment and animal welfare, since they might feel judged or moralized, as suggested by Anamma's Brand Manager (M.Rosenqvist, personal communication February 24, 2023) and prior research on ethical food claims (Schuldt & Hannahan, 2013).

5.1.2 The Theory of Planned Behavior

We will continue by discussing the second research question:

2. What are the factors influencing consumer decision-making when it comes to purchasing plantbased meat alternatives?

The hypotheses H4a to H4c sought to examine whether the widely acknowledged Theory of Planned Behavior could be applicable in explaining purchase intentions of plant-based meat alternatives. Results show that *attitude* and *subjective norm* have a positive influence on *purchase intentions*, supporting hypotheses H4a and H4b. Out of the two, *subjective norm* had the most considerable effect on *purchase intentions*, meaning that social expectations have a larger effect on getting individuals to purchase plant-

based meat alternatives than individuals' actual attitudes. The considerable effect of subjective norms can be seen as contradicting some previous research that points towards attitudes being the most positive predictor of individuals' intentions in the context of food consumption (Aizen, 2015). However, subjective norm has been found as an even stronger predictor of behavioral intentions in other contexts examining sustainable behavior (Cialdini et al., 1990). What is more, perceived behavioral control (PBC) explaining purchase intentions, as suggested by H4c, could not be supported. Thus, being in control of one's own behavior did not positively predict individuals' purchase intentions connected to plant-based meat alternatives. Not finding *perceived behavioral control* as a significant predictor of purchase intentions offers a contrasting view to not only the famous TPB but also to other food-related studies, for example eating genetically modified food (Kim, 2014) and eating healthy food (Åstrøsm & Rise, 2001), that found PBC to be a predictor of *purchase intentions*. PBC not being significant could be explained by the fact that in general, respondents felt they had autonomy to buy plant-based meat alternatives if they wished to do so, which in turn could be an outcome of the widespread availability and accessibility, in terms of price and convenience, in Germany, Sweden and Finland. This offers a contrasting perspective to views suggesting that eating plant-based food would be regarded as an expensive, privileged way of life (Greenebaum, 2018).

5.1.2.1 Extending the Theory of Planned Behavior

The original TPB was extended with two components, to see if *food neophobia* (H5) or *moral norms* (H6) could further explain *purchase intentions* connected to plant-based meat alternatives. The extension proved to be successful, in the sense that the extended version of TPB predicted a larger share of the variation in *purchase intentions* compared to the original TPB. However, the results showed that H5 was not supported, meaning that conclusions regarding individuals' reluctance to try novel foods lowering purchase intentions for plant-based meats could not be drawn. This is rather contradicting to what has been concluded in previous studies that have found food neophobia as a barrier for purchasing plant-based meat (Bryant, C. et al., 2019; Hwang et al., 2020). These contradicting results could entail that plant-based meat is not as widely regarded as a new type of food anymore in Sweden, Germany and Finland due to the rapid development and the established nature of the category (Statista, 2023). Furthermore, it can be argued that a plant-based burger patty, as depicted in the survey, closely resembles conventional and familiar food and is therefore not considered as especially novel or exotic.

The concept of *moral norms* was found to have a positive effect on purchase intentions for PBMA, resulting in H6 being supported, alongside H4a and H4b. Moral norms add a welcomed layer of ethics to the TPB, which has often been criticized as relying on rational or cognitive components to explain behavior (Conner & Armitage, 1998). Moral norms having a positive effect on purchase intentions for plant-based meats are aligned with previous studies concluding that concerns regarding personal morals

and ethics, for example relating to animal welfare and the environment, are important drivers for reduced meat consumption (Kwasny et al., 2022).

5.2 Discussion regarding the secondary research question

This section will discuss the secondary research question:

3. What is the effect of dietary preference (meat eaters and flexitarians) on the impact of different advertising claims in advertisements for plant-based meat alternatives?

The moderation analyses conducted in section 4.2 showed that *dietary preference* moderated the effect of the different claims on *attitude*. The conditional effects further revealed that the moderation effect is in fact only significant for flexitarians, but not for meat eaters. This implies that the claims only had a significant positive effect on *attitude* as compared to the no claim condition for the dietary group of flexitarians. Moreover, when zooming in on the different claims, the moderation effects were significant for the taste claim, although the other two claims also showed significant results at a 10% significance level. The moderation analyses regarding *other behavioral intentions* did not yield significant results, indicating that meat eaters and flexitarians did not significantly differ in how they reacted to the different claims when it comes to their behavioral intentions.

The results indicate that attitudes of flexitarians are more easily altered by PBMA advertising, compared to attitudes of meat eaters. The more positive effect of an exposure to a claim on *attitude* for flexitarians can possibly be explained with the higher involvement and more positive attitudes towards PBMA among flexitarians compared to that of meat eaters (Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022). Indeed, as explained in section 2.3.2, attitude change is more likely to occur when the advertising message addresses something of importance to the individual (Holbrook, 1978; Kim et al., 2009; Kokkinaki & Lunt, 1999; Mitchell & Olson, 1981). Consumers generally do not process all information available to them, but process primarily information regarded as most important (Holbrook, 1978; Vermeir and Verbeke, 2006). According to Kokkinaki and Lunt (1999), higher personal relevance of the advertising message thus increases information processing and in turn positively impacts strength and accessibility of attitudes. Hence, as the claims address an issue of importance to flexitarians, this dietary group is more receptive towards the claims, explaining why attitude change occurred significantly more strongly than for meat eaters.

6 Conclusion

This section summarizes the main conclusions that can be drawn from the presentation and discussion of the results in the previous chapters. It further presents the theoretical and practical contributions of the study, as well as a discussion of limitations and potential avenues for future research.

6.1 A claim has a positive effect on attitude and behavioral intentions, but the type of claim does not make a difference

To summarize the findings related to the first research question "What is the impact of different advertising claims, namely health, environmental, taste and animal welfare on consumers' beliefs, attitudes and behavioral intentions towards plant-based meat alternatives?", we conclude the following:

The study found that exposure to an advertising claim in an advertisement for a PBMA versus being exposed to an advertisement without a claim has a significant impact on consumer attitudes and other behavioral intentions. However, only a tendency could be found for a significant impact of the claim on purchase intentions. This entails that even though the claim has a positive effect on attitudes, it did not result in a positive impact on purchase intentions. We suggest the attitude-behavior gap is prevailing even in the context of PBMA. We also suggested that other product- and brand-related factors, and the lack of them in our study, might have weakened the impact on purchase intentions. In contrast to established marketing theories, however, the study found no significant differences in beliefs, when comparing the group exposed to a claim and the group not exposed to a claim, indicating that changing consumer beliefs relating to PBMA among individuals who consume meat, i.e., meat eaters and flexitarians, is a complex process and negative stigmas around PBMA might make it more challenging.

Interestingly, our study found that while being exposed to a claim had positive effects, significant differences between the four types of claims could not be established. However, the findings indicate that there are tendencies for the health claim to perform the strongest out of the four, whereas the taste claim indicated the least positive effects. We suggest one reason for this to be the congruency between a functional, informative advertising claim and the functional character of plant-based meat, which is often perceived persuasive by consumers (Feng & Park, 2018). Finally, we suggested that the relatively weaker performance of the animal welfare and environmental claim stem from individuals not wanting to be reminded of the negative consequences of their food choices, as suggested by previous literature (Schuldt & Hannahan, 2013).

6.2 Attitudes, subjective and moral norms predict purchase intentions of plant-based meat alternatives

Since exposure to advertisement alone is not sufficient to explain behavioral intentions, we proposed the second research question "*What are the factors influencing consumer decision-making when it comes to purchasing plant-based meat alternatives*?" and summarize the findings as follows:

The widely acknowledged TPB was somewhat successful in explaining purchase intentions towards PBMA, since the study found that attitude and subjective norm are significant predictors of purchase intentions. Surprisingly, subjective norm proved to be the strongest predictor of purchase intentions, indicating what has already been examined in other contexts of sustainable behavior, namely that social expectations and the opinions of an individual's social circle have significant effects on opting for PBMA (Cialdini et al., 1990). Perceived behavioral control, on the other hand, does not seem to be of relevance in the context of PBMA. In order to more intricately answer the research question, we successfully extended the TPB with the concept of moral norms, proving that individuals' concerns for the environment and animal welfare should result in higher purchase intentions. In contrast to that notion, the advertising claims related to the ethical and moral dimensions of PBMA did not lead to significantly more favorable effects than the other two claims and showed a tendency to perform worse than the health claim.

6.3 The attitudes of flexitarians are more easily affected

Finally, to answer the secondary research question "What is the effect of dietary preference (meat eaters and flexitarians) on the impact of different advertising claims on advertisements for plant-based meat alternatives?", we conclude:

Our study found that dietary preference moderated the effect of different claims on attitude, but only for flexitarians, suggesting that flexitarians could be more easily persuaded than meat eaters by including claims in advertisements of PBMA. This moderation effect was not, however, observed for other behavioral intentions. We suggested that flexitarians being more easily swayed by PBMA advertisements could be explained by their higher involvement in and liking of PBMA, and their therefore higher tendency to process the information provided by the claim. These findings support the idea that attitude formation when exposed to an advertisement is influenced by personal relevance and shows that this is particularly relevant when it comes to the advertising of PBMA.

6.4 Theoretical contributions

The theoretical contributions of our thesis are two-fold: contributions in the domain of marketing and advertising and second, in the domain of consumer decision making. We begin by presenting the contributions in the domain of marketing and advertising.

By studying ways of advertising plant-based meat alternatives, we add to the scant, yet growing research area on meat substitutes. Prior research on plant-based meat alternatives has mainly focused on consumption drivers and barriers as well as individual beliefs and attitudes towards PBMA (Slade, 2018; Spendrup & Hovmalm, 2022). Focus has also been on product- and brand-related factors, while the domain of marketing these products has remained rather unexplored (Hoek et al., 2011; Van Loo et al., 2020). A few efforts in the advertising and marketing field of PBMA have undoubtedly been made, yet these have mainly focused on message framing and the effectiveness of on-pack labels, leaving advertising claims fairly unexplored (Demartini et al., 2022; Ye & Mattila, 2021). What is more, these studies have mainly been conducted in the U.S and Italy, leaving Finland, Germany and Sweden as understudied regions in the domain on marketing plant-based meat alternatives. Furthermore, by focusing on meat eaters and flexitarians, we provide an interesting viewpoint to the topic of marketing plant-based food, which has been suggested by prior research studying meat consumption and reduction (Kemper et al., 2023). Additionally, we extend prior research on claims used in food advertising, which has not, to the knowledge of the authors, studied plant-based meats (Choi et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2009; Schuldt & Hannahan, 2013). We also answer to Ye and Mattila's (2021) call to separate what they call the "social" appeal, namely looking at environmental and animal welfare claims separately. Finally, since we did not find that advertisement succeeded in changing consumer beliefs, as suggested by Mitchell and Olsson (1981), our study proposes that traditional views in marketing theory should be applied with caution when considering advertising of novel, and rather polarizing foods.

Equally important, our study showed that the established TPB is adequate in predicting purchase intentions in the domain of PBMA. More specifically, our study found that attitudes and subjective norms are significant predictors of purchase intentions for PBMA. By concluding that subjective norm was the strongest predictor of purchase intentions, we contradict prior findings that have deemed attitudes as the strongest predictor (Ajzen, 2015). Our findings also concluded that perceived behavioral control could not be found as a significant predictor of purchase intentions for PBMA, challenging the classical construct of TPB and contesting the impact of PBC when examining consumer goods that are easily accessible and reasonably priced. Finally, by successfully extending the original construct of TPB with the concept of moral norms, we add a new layer to the TPB, which in its original form has been criticized for relying too much on the rationality of consumers (Sniehotta et al., 2014). Furthermore, by looking at flexitarians and meat eaters in the light of the TPB, we add to the research on consumer

decision making in the context of plant-based meat alternatives, which has historically focused more on vegans and vegetarians (Christopher et al., 2018; Kerschke-Risch, 2015).

6.5 Managerial implications

Having focused on flexitarians and meat eaters, our study provides practical ideas to marketers of plantbased meat alternatives who wish to expand beyond their heavy-users, i.e., vegetarians and vegans. More specifically, our findings suggest that there is more work to be done in optimizing advertising towards this rather unexplored segment, albeit our findings do indicate that including an advertising claim on PBMA leads to a positive impact on consumer attitudes, beliefs and some of the lower order behavioral intentions. However, in order to impact purchase intentions, more is needed. Comparing the different types of claims, our findings suggest that no significant differences between them can be established; however, some tendencies were found, which could provide avenues for marketers to explore. Indeed, our findings suggested that the health claim *"High in protein and fiber"*, would be received well among flexitarians and meat eaters, whereas the taste claim *"Tasty and meaty"* did not lead to stellar results. Moreover, our findings for the secondary research question also suggest that flexitarians seem to be more positively impacted by PBMA advertisement, suggesting marketing efforts could give more bang for the buck when targeting this group.

Our findings from having applied the TPB suggest that PBMA purchase intentions are predicted by not only consumer attitudes, but also subjective and moral norms. This implies that policy makers and PBMA producers and marketers should highlight the social acceptability of opting for PBMA. However, based on the results from our study, policy makers and PBMA marketers should approach the area of moral norms with caution when targeting meat eaters and flexitarians, since the claims with an ethical layer (animal welfare and environment) did not perform the best out of the four claims tested.

6.6 Limitations and criticism of the study

To begin with, our advertising stimuli pose some limitations to our study. Indeed, the advertisement in the experiment was not culturally adapted to the three different audiences and could therefore have been perceived as generic. Also, the chosen plant-based product, the burger, could be seen as not fully representing the category of PBMA. Furthermore, the only stimuli altered in our study was the claim or the inclusion versus absence of it, meaning that our study does not examine the effect of visual stimuli.

Second, the data sample was collected from three different countries, which could be seen as a limitation. Indeed, since we utilize a convenience sample, our questionnaire was in English and presumably not in the respondents' mother tongue, which could lead to misunderstandings and cultural

interpretations (Wenz et al., 2021). Moreover, since the study included three countries, the generalizability of the findings is rather limited to these countries on the one hand, while on the other hand, may not prove as accurate results as wanted for each of the three countries individually. Moreover, one potential limitation in our study relating to the secondary research question is the ambiguity of different dietary groups. Indeed, dietary preference cannot be seen as a binary variable and since survey respondents indicate their self-perceived dietary preference, generalizability and replicability of results could be conflicted.

Thirdly, applying the established, yet criticized TPB in our study calls for critical reflections. Certainly, the TPB has been criticized for explaining consumer behavior through a rational lens and not incorporating the role of emotions (Conner et al., 2013; Sniehotta et al., 2014). Moreover, since survey data was collected through self-administered surveys as suggested by Ajzen (2006), rather than observing actual behavior or analyzing real sales data, biased or less reliable results may have been recorded. De Leeuw et al. (2015) found that this can be the case especially when examining socially desirable behaviors.

Finally, the scope of the study provides some limitations. Our study did not utilize a holistic view on marketing, since it only focused on one of the four pillars of the marketing mix, namely promotion. Certainly, factors such as product, price and place as well as other factors suggested to be included in the mix when considering marketing within the sustainability domain, could also have been considered in order to provide a more holistic view on the topic (Pomering, 2017).

6.7 Suggestions for future research

Since our study found tendencies for the success of the more informational claims and the opposite for the more hedonic claim, future research could examine the match between perceived product attributes and advertising appeals in order to establish or reiterate the concept of congruency in the PBMA domain. In addition, given that our advertisements did not manage to alter consumer beliefs, future research should examine if different advertising techniques could be able to do so.

Second, since the study was conducted among Finnish, German and Swedish consumers, future research could replicate the study by expanding it to cover more diverse parts of Europe. Furthermore, researchers should also investigate adapting the advertising stimuli to the studied cultural context, in order to possibly gain more statistically significant result. Furthermore, more nuanced cultural comparisons among the populations could also provide interesting avenues of future research.

Thirdly, since the aim of our study was not to examine food values (Lusk & Briggerman, 2009) in the context of plant-based food, we suggest future research to focus on fleshing out food values in the context of plant-based meats. Furthermore, our study focused on only four types of claims and their individual effect on the consumer. Future research should take on a more holistic perspective and examine the effect of other claims and the joint effect of various claims.

Fourthly, since our study found that the TPB and the extended version of it only explained 57% of the variation in purchase intentions future research could focus on uncovering other constructs that predict a larger share of the purchase intentions for PBMA. Finally, as noted in our study, purchase intentions for PBMA remain low among flexitarians and meat eaters, therefore future research should focus on uncovering reasons for how to increase the adoption of these products among these dietary groups.

7 References

- Aaker, D. A., & Norris, D. (1982). Characteristics of TV Commercials Perceived as Informative. Journal of Advertising Research, 22(2), 61-70.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50(2), 179-211. 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Ajzen, I. (2001). Nature and operation of attitudes. *Annual Review of Psychology; Annu Rev Psychol*, 52(1), 27-58. 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.27
- Ajzen, I. (2006). Constructing a theory of planned behavior questionnaire., 1-12. https://people.umass.edu/~aizen/pdf/tpb.measurement.pdf
- Ajzen, I. (2015). Consumer attitudes and behavior: the theory of planned behavior applied to food consumption decisions. *Italian Review of Agricultural Economics*, 70(2), 121-138.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (2000). Attitudes and the attitude-behavior relation: Reasoned and automatic processes. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 11(1), 1-33.
- Ajzen, I., & Sheikh, S. (2013). Action versus inaction: anticipated affect in the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology; J Appl Soc Psychol*, 43(1), 155-162. 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2012.00989.x
- Akbari, M. (2015). Different Impacts of Advertising Appeals on Advertising Attitude for High and Low Involvement Products. *Global Business Review*, 16(3), 478-493. 10.1177/0972150915569936
- Alavion, S. J., Allahyari, M. S., Al-Rimawi, A., & Surujlal, J. (2017). Adoption of Agricultural E-Marketing: Application of the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal of International Food & Agribusiness Marketing*, 29(1), 1-15. 10.1080/08974438.2016.1229242
- Anselmsson, J., Vestman Bondesson, N., & Johansson, U. (2014). Brand image and customers' willingness to pay a price premium for food brands. *The Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 23(2), 90-102. 10.1108/JPBM-10-2013-0414
- Apostolidis, C., & McLeay, F. (2016). Should we stop meating like this? Reducing meat consumption through substitution. *Food Policy*, *65*, 74-89. 10.1016/j.foodpol.2016.11.002
- Arvola, A., Vassallo, M., Dean, M., Lampila, P., Saba, A., Lähteenmäki, L., & Shepherd, R. (2008).
 Predicting intentions to purchase organic food: The role of affective and moral attitudes in the Theory of Planned Behaviour. *Appetite*, 50(2), 443-454. 10.1016/j.appet.2007.09.010
- Åstrøsm, A. N., & Rise, J. (2001). Young adults' intention to eat healthy food: Extending the theory of planned behaviour. *Psychology and Health*, *16*(2), 223-237.
- Axfood. (2022, January 25). Vegobarometern: Klimat och miljö allt viktigare när vegetariskt fortsätter öka. Retrieved Feb 1, 2023, from

https://www.axfood.se/nyhetsrum/pressmeddelanden/2022/01/vegobarometern-klimat-och-miljo-allt-viktigare-nar-vegetariskt-fortsatter-oka/

- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology; J Pers Soc Psychol*, 51(6), 1173-1182. 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Bell, E., Bryman, A., & Harley, B. (2019). Business research methods. Oxford University Press.
- Bendall-Lyon, D., & Powers, T. L. (2004). The impact of structure and process attributes on satisfaction and behavioral intentions. *The Journal of Services Marketing*, 18(2), 114-121. 10.1108/08876040410528719
- BMEL. (2023). Per capita consumption of meat in Germany from 1991 to 2022 (in kilograms) [Graph]. Statista. Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/525324/meat-per-capita-consumption-germany/
- Bogueva, D., Marinova, D., & Raphaely, T. (2017). Reducing meat consumption: the case for social marketing. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 29(3), 477-500. 10.1108/APJML-08-2016-0139
- Bryant, C., Szejda, K., Parekh, N., Desphande, V., & Tse, B. (2019). A Survey of Consumer Perceptions of Plant-Based and Clean Meat in the USA, India, and China. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 310.3389/fsufs.2019.00011
- Bryant, C., & Sanctorum, H. (2021). Alternative proteins, evolving attitudes: Comparing consumer attitudes to plant-based and cultured meat in Belgium in two consecutive years. *Appetite*, *161*, 105161.
- Canetti, L., Bachar, E., & Berry, E. M. (2002). Food and emotion. *Behavioural Processes*, 60(2), 157-164.
- Carrigan, M., & Attalla, A. (2001). The myth of the ethical consumer do ethics matter in purchase behaviour? *The Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *18*(7), 560-578. 10.1108/07363760110410263
- Cartwright, D. (1949). Some principles of mass persuasion: Selected findings of research on the sale of United States war bonds. *Human Relations*, 2(3), 253-267.
- Cheah, I., Shimul, A. S., Liang, J., & Phau, I. (2020). Drivers and barriers toward reducing meat consumption. *Appetite*, *149*, 104636.
- Cheong, Y., & Kim, K. (2011). The interplay between advertising claims and product categories in food advertising: A schema congruity perspective. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, *39*(1), 55-74.
- Choi, H., Yoo, K., Hyun Baek, T., Reid, L. N., & Macias, W. (2013). Presence and effects of health and nutrition-related (HNR) claims with benefit-seeking and risk-avoidance appeals in female-orientated magazine food advertisements. *International Journal of Advertising*, *32*(4), 587-616.

- Christopher, A., Bartkowski, J. P., & Haverda, T. (2018). Portraits of veganism: A comparative discourse analysis of a second-order subculture. *Societies*, 8(3), 55.
- Cialdini, R. B., Reno, R. R., & Kallgren, C. A. (1990). A focus theory of normative conduct: Recycling the concept of norms to reduce littering in public places. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58(6), 1015.
- Circus, V. E., & Robison, R. (2019). Exploring perceptions of sustainable proteins and meat attachment. *British Food Journal (1966), 121*(2), 533-545. 10.1108/BFJ-01-2018-0025
- Cohen, J. B., Fishbein, M., & Ahtola, O. T. (1972). The Nature and Uses of Expectancy-Value Models in Consumer Attitude Research. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 9(4), 456. 10.2307/3149317
- Çoker, E. N., & van der Linden, S. (2022). Fleshing out the theory of planned of behavior: Meat consumption as an environmentally significant behavior. *Current Psychology*, *41*(2), 681-690.
- Conner, M., & Armitage, C. J. (1998). Extending the Theory of Planned Behavior: A Review and Avenues for Further Research. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28(15), 1429-1464. 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1998.tb01685.x
- Conner, M., Godin, G., Sheeran, P., & Germain, M. (2013). Some feelings are more important: cognitive attitudes, affective attitudes, anticipated affect, and blood donation. *Health Psychology*, *32*(3), 264.
- Contini, C., Boncinelli, F., Marone, E., Scozzafava, G., & Casini, L. (2020). Drivers of plant-based convenience foods consumption: Results of a multicomponent extension of the theory of planned behaviour. *Food Quality and Preference*, 84, 103931. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2020.103931
- Curtain, F., & Grafenauer, S. (2019). Plant-based meat substitutes in the flexitarian age: An audit of products on supermarket shelves. *Nutrients; Nutrients, 11*(11), 2603. 10.3390/nu11112603
- Dagevos, H. (2021). Finding flexitarians: Current studies on meat eaters and meat reducers. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 114, 530-539.
- De Backer, C. J. S., & Hudders, L. (2015). Meat morals: relationship between meat consumption consumer attitudes towards human and animal welfare and moral behavior. *Meat Science*, *99*, 68-74. 10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.08.011
- de Boer, J., Schösler, H., & Aiking, H. (2017). Towards a reduced meat diet: Mindset and motivation of young vegetarians, low, medium and high meat-eaters. *Appetite*, *113*, 387-397. 10.1016/j.appet.2017.03.007
- De Leeuw, A., Valois, P., Ajzen, I., & Schmidt, P. (2015). Using the theory of planned behavior to identify key beliefs underlying pro-environmental behavior in high-school students: Implications for educational interventions. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *42*, 128-138.

- de Oliveira Padilha, L. G., Malek, L., & Umberger, W. J. (2022). Consumers' attitudes towards labgrown meat, conventionally raised meat and plant-based protein alternatives. *Food Quality and Preference*, *99*, 104573.
- de-Magistris, T., & Gracia, A. (2016). Consumers' willingness-to-pay for sustainable food products: the case of organically and locally grown almonds in Spain. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 118*, 97-104. 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.01.050
- Demartini, E., Vecchiato, D., Finos, L., Mattavelli, S., & Gaviglio, A. (2022). Would you buy vegan meatballs? The policy issues around vegan and meat-sounding labelling of plant-based meat alternatives. *Food Policy*, *111*, 102310. 10.1016/j.foodpol.2022.102310
- D'Souza, C., Brouwer, A. R., & Singaraju, S. (2022). Veganism: Theory of planned behaviour, ethical concerns and the moderating role of catalytic experiences. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 66, 102952. 10.1016/j.jretconser.2022.102952
- Eagly, A. H., & Chaiken, S. (1993). *The psychology of attitudes*. Harcourt brace Jovanovich college publishers.
- Eatwell, D. (2022). *Why Plant-based Meat Companies Should Stop Targeting Flexitarians*. Retrieved Feb 12, 2023, from https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/why-plant-based-meat-companies-should-stop-targeting-doug-eatwell/
- Eckl, M. R., Biesbroek, S., Van 't Veer, P., & Geleijnse, J. M. (2021). Replacement of meat with nonmeat protein sources : A review of the drivers and inhibitors in developed countries. *Nutrients*, 13(10), 3602. 10.3390/nu13103602
- Edgar, T., Boyd, S. D., & Palamé, M. J. (2009). Sustainability for behaviour change in the fight against antibiotic resistance: a social marketing framework. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, *63*(2), 230-237. 10.1093/jac/dkn508
- Eliasson, A. (2013). Kvantitativ metod från början (3rd ed.). Studentlitteratur.
- Elzerman, J. E., van Boekel, M. A. J. S., & Luning, P. A. (2013). Exploring meat substitutes: consumer experiences and contextual factors. *British Food Journal (1966), 115*(5), 700-710. 10.1108/00070701311331490
- European Commission. (2023). *Nutririon and Health Claims*. Retrieved March 12, 2023, from https://food.ec.europa.eu/safety/labelling-and-nutrition/nutrition-and-health-claims_en
- Faria, A. A., & Kang, J. (2022). It's not just about the food: Motivators of food patterns and their link with sustainable food neophobia. *Appetite*, *174*, 106008.
- Feng, Y., & Park, J. (2018). Taste and nutrition: the uses and effectiveness of different advertising claims in women's magazine food advertisements. *International Journal of Advertising*, 37(3), 482-501. 10.1080/02650487.2016.1247489

Field, A. P. (2018). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (5th ed.). Sage Publications.

- Fishbein, M. (1963). An investigation of the relationships between beliefs about an object and the attitude toward that object. *Human Relations*, *16*(3), 233-239.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research. Addison-Wesley.
- Fonseca, R. P., & Sanchez-Sabate, R. (2022). Consumers' Attitudes towards Animal Suffering: A Systematic Review on Awareness, Willingness and Dietary Change. MDPI AG. 10.3390/ijerph192316372
- Forestell, C. A., Spaeth, A. M., & Kane, S. A. (2012). To eat or not to eat red meat. A closer look at the relationship between restrained eating and vegetarianism in college females. *Appetite*, *58*(1), 319-325. 10.1016/j.appet.2011.10.015
- Godin, G., Conner, M., & Sheeran, P. (2005). Bridging the intention-behaviour gap: The role of moral norm. *British Journal of Social Psychology; Br J Soc Psychol*, 44(4), 497-512. 10.1348/014466604X17452
- Goldberg, M. E., & Gorn, G. J. (1987). Happy and sad TV programs: how they affect reactions to commercials. *The Journal of Consumer Research*, *14*(3), 387-403. 10.1086/209122
- Graça, J., Calheiros, M. M., & Oliveira, A. (2015). Attached to meat? (Un)Willingness and intentions to adopt a more plant-based diet. *Appetite*, *95*, 113-125. 10.1016/j.appet.2015.06.024
- Greenebaum, J. (2018). Vegans of color: Managing visible and invisible stigmas. *Food, Culture & Society*, 21(5), 680-697.
- Guagnano, G. A., Stern, P. C., & Dietz, T. (1995). Influences on Attitude-Behavior Relationships. *Environment and Behavior*, 27(5), 699-718. 10.1177/0013916595275005
- Gupta, S., & Ogden, D. (2006). The attitude-behavior gap in environmental consumerism. *APUBEF Proceedings*, *3*(1), 199-206.
- Harris, R. J. (1975). A Primer of Multivariate Statistics Academic Press. New York,
- Heath, Y., & Gifford, R. (2002). Extending the Theory of Planned Behavior: Predicting the Use of Public Transportation. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 32(10), 2154-2189. 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb02068.x
- Hellier, P. K., Geursen, G. M., Carr, R. A., & Rickard, J. A. (2003). Customer repurchase intention: A general structural equation model. *European Journal of Marketing*, 37(11), 1762-1800. 10.1108/03090560310495456
- Hielkema, M. H., & Lund, T. B. (2021). Reducing meat consumption in meat-loving Denmark: Exploring willingness, behavior, barriers and drivers. *Food Quality and Preference*, 93, 104257. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2021.104257

- Hoek, A. C., Luning, P. A., Weijzen, P., Engels, W., Kok, F. J., & de Graaf, C. (2011). Replacement of meat by meat substitutes. A survey on person- and product-related factors in consumer acceptance. *Appetite*, 56(3), 662-673. 10.1016/j.appet.2011.02.001
- Holbrook, M. B. (1978). Beyond Attitude Structure: Toward the Informational Determinants of Attitude. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 15(4), 545-556. 10.1177/002224377801500404
- Hopwood, C. J., Bleidorn, W., Schwaba, T., & Chen, S. (2020). Health, environmental, and animal rights motives for vegetarian eating. *PLoS ONE*, 15(4), e0230609. 10.1371/journal.pone.0230609
- Hultman, M., Kazeminia, A., & Ghasemi, V. (2015). Intention to visit and willingness to pay premium for ecotourism: The impact of attitude, materialism, and motivation. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(9), 1854-1861. 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.01.013
- Hwang, J., You, J., Moon, J., & Jeong, J. (2020). Factors Affecting Consumers' Alternative Meats Buying Intentions: Plant-Based Meat Alternative and Cultured Meat. *Sustainability (Basel, Switzerland)*, 12(14), 5662. 10.3390/su12145662
- Ipsos. (2022, November). *Making a Plant based future*. Ipsos. Retrieved Feb 12, 2023, from https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/publication/documents/2022-11/Making-a-plant-based%20future-trends-foresight.pdf
- Janssen, M., Busch, C., Rödiger, M., & Hamm, U. (2016). Motives of consumers following a vegan diet and their attitudes towards animal agriculture. *Appetite*, *105*, 643-651.
- Kaiser, F. G., & Scheuthle, H. (2003). Two challenges to a moral extension of the theory of planned behavior: moral norms and just world beliefs in conservationism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 35(5), 1033-1048. 10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00316-1
- Katz, D. (1960). The functional approach to the study of attitudes. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 24(2), 163-204.
- Keldsen, T. (2022, September). Anamma är Sveriges mest rekommenderade varumärke. YouGov. Retrieved April 2, 2023, from https://business.yougov.com/content/43577-anamma-ar-sverigesmest-rekommenderade-varumarke
- Kemper, J. A. (2020). Motivations, barriers, and strategies for meat reduction at different family lifecycle stages. *Appetite*, *150*, 104644.
- Kemper, J. A., Benson-Rea, M., Young, J., & Seifert, M. (2023). Cutting down or eating up: Examining meat consumption, reduction, and sustainable food beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors. *Food Quality and Preference*, 104, 104718. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2022.104718
- Kemper, J. A., & White, S. K. (2021). Young adults' experiences with flexitarianism: The 4Cs. *Appetite*, *160*, 105073.
- Kerschke-Risch, P. (2015). Vegan diet: Motives, approach and duration. Initial results of a quantitative sociological study. *Ernahrungs Umschau*, 62(6), 98-103.

- Kim, K., Cheong, Y., & Zheng, L. (2009). The current practices in food advertising. *International Journal of Advertising*, 28(3), 527-553. 10.2501/S0265048709200722
- Knaapila, A., Michel, F., Jouppila, K., Sontag-Strohm, T., & Piironen, V. (2022). Millennials' Consumption of and Attitudes toward Meat and Plant-Based Meat Alternatives by Consumer Segment in Finland. *Foods*, 11(3), 456.
- Kokkinaki, F., & Lunt, P. (1999). The effect of advertising message involvement on brand attitude accessibility. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 20(1), 41-51. 10.1016/S0167-4870(98)00042-7
- Kwasny, T., Dobernig, K., & Riefler, P. (2022). Towards reduced meat consumption: A systematic literature review of intervention effectiveness, 2001–2019. *Appetite*, 168, 105739. 10.1016/j.appet.2021.105739
- Kyriakopoulou, K., Keppler, J. K., & van der Goot, A. J. (2021). Functionality of ingredients and additives in plant-based meat analogues. *Foods; Foods, 10*(3), 600. 10.3390/foods10030600
- Ladhari, R., Souiden, N., & Dufour, B. (2017). The role of emotions in utilitarian service settings: The effects of emotional satisfaction on product perception and behavioral intentions. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 34*, 10-18. 10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.09.005
- Lea, E. J., Crawford, D., & Worsley, A. (2006). Public views of the benefits and barriers to the consumption of a plant-based diet. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 60(7), 828-837.
- Lea, E., & Worsley, A. (2003). Benefits and barriers to the consumption of a vegetarian diet in Australia. *Public Health Nutrition*, 6(5), 505-511. 10.1079/PHN2002452
- Lee, J., Hsu, L. (., Han, H., & Kim, Y. (2010). Understanding how consumers view green hotels: how a hotel's green image can influence behavioural intentions. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, *18*(7), 901-914. 10.1080/09669581003777747
- Lentz, G., Connelly, S., Mirosa, M., & Jowett, T. (2018). Gauging attitudes and behaviours: Meat consumption and potential reduction. *Appetite*, *127*, 230-241. 10.1016/j.appet.2018.04.015
- Leonidou, L. C., & Leonidou, C. N. (2009). Rational Versus Emotional Appeals in Newspaper Advertising: Copy, Art, and Layout Differences. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 15(4), 522-546. 10.1080/10496490903281353
- Lutz, R. J., & Swasy, J. L. (1977). "Integrating Cognitive Structures and Cognitive Response Approaches to Monitoring Communications Effects". *Advances in Consumer Research*, *4*, 363.
- MacKenzie, S. B., Lutz, R. J., & Belch, G. E. (1986). The role of attitude toward the ad as a mediator of advertising effectiveness: A test of competing explanations. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 23(2), 130-143.
- Madden, T. J., Pamela, S. E., & Ajzen, I. (1992). A Comparison of the Theory of Planned Behavior and the Theory of Reasoned Action. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull*, 18(1), 3-9. 10.1177/0146167292181001
- Magnusson, M. K., Arvola, A., Koivisto Hursti, U., Åberg, L., & Sjödén, P. (2001). Attitudes towards organic foods among Swedish consumers. *British Food Journal (1966), 103*(3), 209-227. 10.1108/00070700110386755
- Malhotra, N. K. (2019). Marketing research : an applied orientation. Pearson.
- Mancini, S., Sogari, G., Menozzi, D., Nuvoloni, R., Torracca, B., Moruzzo, R., & Paci, G. (2019). Factors Predicting the Intention of Eating an Insect-Based Product. *Foods; Foods*, 8(7), 270. 10.3390/foods8070270
- Markowski, K. L., & Roxburgh, S. (2019). "If I became a vegan, my family and friends would hate me:" Anticipating vegan stigma as a barrier to plant-based diets. *Appetite*, *135*, 1-9.
- Menozzi, D., Sogari, G., Veneziani, M., Simoni, E., & Mora, C. (2017). Eating novel foods: An application of the Theory of Planned Behaviour to predict the consumption of an insect-based product. *Food Quality and Preference*, *59*, 27-34. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2017.02.001
- Merriam-Webster. (2023). Vegan. *Merriam-Webster*. Retrieved May 1, 2023, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/vegan
- Merriam-Webster. (2023). Vegetarian. *Merriam-Webster*. Retrieved May 1, 2023, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/vegetarian#h1
- Michel, F., Hartmann, C., & Siegrist, M. (2021). Consumers' associations, perceptions and acceptance of meat and plant-based meat alternatives. *Food Quality and Preference*, 87, 104063. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2020.104063
- Mitchell, A. A., & Olson, J. C. (1981). Are Product Attribute Beliefs the Only Mediator of Advertising Effects on Brand Attitude? *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18(3), 318. 10.2307/3150973
- Montague, M., Borland, R., & Sinclair, C. (2001). Slip! Slop! Slap! and SunSmart, 1980-2000: Skin Cancer Control and 20 Years of Population-Based Campaigning. *Health Education & Behavior*, 28(3), 290-305. http://www.jstor.org.ez.hhs.se/stable/45319789
- Moon, W., Balasubramanian, S. K., & Rimal, A. (2011). Health claims and consumers' behavioral intentions: The case of soy-based food. *Food Policy*, 36(4), 480-489. 10.1016/j.foodpol.2011.05.001
- Mullee, A., Vermeire, L., Vanaelst, B., Mullie, P., Deriemaeker, P., Leenaert, T., De Henauw, S., Dunne, A., Gunter, M. J., Clarys, P., & Huybrechts, I. (2017). Vegetarianism and meat consumption: A comparison of attitudes and beliefs between vegetarian, semi-vegetarian, and omnivorous subjects in Belgium. *Appetite*, 114, 299-305. 10.1016/j.appet.2017.03.052
- National Library Of Medicine. (2021, August 6). *Eating habits and behaviors*. Medical Encyclopedia. Retrieved Feb 1, 2023, from https://medlineplus.gov/ency/patientinstructions/000349.html
- Natural Resources Institute Finland. (2022). Per capita consumption of meat in Finland in selected years from 1950 to 2021 (in kilograms) [Graph]. Statista. Retrieved May 10, 2023, from

https://www.statista.com/statistics/612739/annual-per-capita-consumption-of-meat-in-finland/#:~:text=The%20annual%20consumption%20of%20meat,than%20in%20the%20previou s%20year.

- Nezlek, J. B., & Forestell, C. A. (2022). Meat substitutes: current status, potential benefits, and remaining challenges. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, 47, 100890. 10.1016/j.cofs.2022.100890
- Northcut, *T.K.* (2022, July). *Plant-based Meat Alternatives and Meat Substitutes*. College of Agriculture, forestry and life science. Retrieved April 2, 2023, from https://hgic.clemson.edu/factsheet/plant-based-meat-alternatives-and-meat-substitutes/
- Oxford Reference. (2023). Advertising appeal. *Oxford Reference*. Retrieved May 1, 2023, from https://www.oxfordreference.com/display/10.1093/oi/authority.20110803095352940;jsessionid=76300656394AC97077D576834D4CCE56
- Palan, S., & Schitter, C. (2018). Prolific.ac—A subject pool for online experiments. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, *17*, 22-27. 10.1016/j.jbef.2017.12.004
- Pallant, J. (2013). *SPSS survival manual : a step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS* (5th ed.). McGraw-Hill.
- Papies, E. K., Johannes, N., Daneva, T., Semyte, G., & Kauhanen, L. (2020). Using consumption and reward simulations to increase the appeal of plant-based foods. *Appetite*, 155, 104812. 10.1016/j.appet.2020.104812
- Pidgeon, N., & Fischhoff, B. (2011). The role of social and decision sciences in communicating uncertain climate risks. *Nature Climate Change*, *1*(1), 35-41.
- Pliner, P., & Hobden, K. (1992). Development of a scale to measure the trait of food neophobia in humans. *Appetite; Appetite, 19*(2), 105-120. 10.1016/0195-6663(92)90014-W
- Pohjolainen, P., Vinnari, M., & Jokinen, P. (2015). Consumers' perceived barriers to following a plant-based diet. *British Food Journal*, *117*(3), 1150-1167.
- Pomering, A. (2017). Marketing for sustainability: Extending the conceptualisation of the marketing mix to drive value for individuals and society at large. *Australasian Marketing Journal*, 25(2), 157-165.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods; Behav Res Methods*, 40(3), 879-891. 10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Rambocas, M., Kirpalani, V. M., & Simms, E. (2018). Brand equity and customer behavioral intentions: a mediated moderated model. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 36(1), 19-40. 10.1108/IJBM-09-2016-0139

- Ruiz de Maya, S., López-López, I., & Munuera, J. L. (2011). Organic food consumption in Europe: International segmentation based on value system differences. *Ecological Economics*, 70(10), 1767-1775. 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2011.04.019
- Schuldt, J. P., & Hannahan, M. (2013). When good deeds leave a bad taste. Negative inferences from ethical food claims. *Appetite*, 62, 76-83. 10.1016/j.appet.2012.11.004
- Shepherd, R. (2002). Resistance to Changes in Diet. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 61(2), 267-272. 10.1079/PNS2002147
- Siegrist, M., & Hartmann, C. (2019). Impact of sustainability perception on consumption of organic meat and meat substitutes. *Appetite*, *132*, 196-202. 10.1016/j.appet.2018.09.016
- Siegrist, M., Hartmann, C., & Keller, C. (2013). Antecedents of food neophobia and its association with eating behavior and food choices. *Food Quality and Preference*, 30(2), 293-298. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2013.06.013
- Slade, P. (2018). If you build it, will they eat it? Consumer preferences for plant-based and cultured meat burgers. *Appetite*, *125*, 428-437.
- Sniehotta, F. F., Presseau, J., & Araújo-Soares, V. (2014). Time to retire the theory of planned behaviour. *Health Psychology Review*, 8(1), 1-7.
- Söderlund, M. (2018). Experiments in marketing. Studentlitteratur.
- Sogari, G., Pucci, T., Caputo, V., & Van Loo, E. J. (2023). The theory of planned behaviour and healthy diet: Examining the mediating effect of traditional food. *Food Quality and Preference*, *104*, 104709. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2022.104709
- Sommer, L. (2011). The theory of planned behaviour and the impact of past behaviour. *International Business & Economics Research Journal (IBER), 10*(1)
- Spears, N., & Singh, S. N. (2004). *Measuring Attitude toward the Brand and Purchase Intentions*. Informa UK Limited. 10.1080/10641734.2004.10505164
- Spendrup, S., & Hovmalm, H. P. (2022). Consumer attitudes and beliefs towards plant-based food in different degrees of processing – The case of Sweden. *Food Quality and Preference*, 102, 104673. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2022.104673
- Statista. (2020). *Revenue development of vegetable-based meat substitute products from 2018 to 2022, by product type (in million euros) [Graph].* Statista. Retrieved May 3, 2023, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/1271977/vegetable-based-meat-substitute-products-revenue-development-by-product-type-germany/
- Statista. (2022). Market revenue of plant-based meat worldwide from 2016 to 2027 (in billion U.S. dollars) [Graph]. Statista. Retrieved May 3, 2023, from https://www.statista.com/forecasts/877369/global-meat-substitutes-market-value

- Statista. (2023). Value of the plant-based food market worldwide from 2020 to 2030. Retrieved April 3, 2023, from https://www-statista-com.ez.hhs.se/statistics/1280394/global-plant-based-food-market-value/
- Sucapane, D., Roux, C., & Sobol, K. (2021). Exploring how product descriptors and packaging colors impact consumers' perceptions of plant-based meat alternative products. *Appetite*, 167, 105590. 10.1016/j.appet.2021.105590
- Svenskt kött. (2018). Per capita consumption of meat in Sweden in selected years from 1990 to 2017, by type of meat (in kilograms) [Graph]. Statista. Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/692140/per-capita-consumption-of-meat-in-sweden-by-type/
- Taylor, K. (2019, May). 3 factors are driving the plant-based 'meat' revolution as analysts predict companies like Beyond Meat and Impossible Foods could explode into a \$140 billion Business Insider. Retrieved April 3, 2023, from industry.https://www.businessinsider.com/meatsubstitutes-impossible-foods-beyond-meat-sales-skyrocket-2019-5?r=US&IR=T
- The Universal Marketing Dictionary. (2023). Advertising claim. *The Universal Marketing Dictionary*. Retrieved May 3, 2023, from https://marketing-dictionary.org/a/advertising-claim/#cite_ref-1
- Tso, R., & Forde, C. G. (2021). Unintended consequences : Nutritional impact and potential pitfalls of switching from animal- to plant-based foods. *Nutrients*, *13*(8), 2527. 10.3390/nu13082527
- Udell, J. G. (1965). Can attitude measurement predict consumer behavior? *Journal of Marketing*, 29(4), 46-50.
- United Nations Food and Agricultural Organization. (2009, October 12). *How to Feed the World in 2050*. Retrieved Jan 28, 2023, from https://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/docs/expert_paper/How_to_Feed_the_World_in_2 050.pdf
- van den Berg, S. W., van den Brink, A. C., Wagemakers, A., & den Broeder, L. (2022). Reducing meat consumption: The influence of life course transitions, barriers and enablers, and effective strategies according to young Dutch adults. *Food Quality and Preference*, 100, 104623. 10.1016/j.foodqual.2022.104623
- Van Loo, E. J., Caputo, V., & Lusk, J. L. (2020). Consumer preferences for farm-raised meat, labgrown meat, and plant-based meat alternatives: Does information or brand matter? *Food Policy*, 95, 101931. 10.1016/j.foodpol.2020.101931
- Verain, M. C. D., & Dagevos, H. (2022). Comparing meat abstainers with avid meat eaters and committed meat reducers. *Frontiers in Nutrition (Lausanne)*, 9, 1016858. 10.3389/fnut.2022.1016858
- Vermeir, I., & Verbeke, W. (2006). Sustainable food consumption: Exploring the consumer "attitude -Behavioral intention" gap. *Journal of Agricultural & Environmental Ethics*, 19(2), 169-194. 10.1007/s10806-005-5485-3

- Vermeir, I., & Verbeke, W. (2008). Sustainable food consumption among young adults in Belgium: Theory of planned behaviour and the role of confidence and values. *Ecological Economics*, 64(3), 542-553. 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.03.007
- Wakefield, M. A., Loken, B., & Hornik, R. C. (2010). Use of mass media campaigns to change health behaviour. *The Lancet*, *376*(9748), 1261-1271.
- Wells, W. D., Moriarty, S., & Burnett, J. (2006). Advertising Principles & Practice, Prentice-Hall. *Upper Saddle River, NJ*,
- Wenz, A., Al Baghal, T., & Gaia, A. (2021). Language Proficiency Among Respondents: Implications for Data Quality in a Longitudinal Face-To-Face Survey. *Journal of Survey Statistics and Methodology*, 9(1), 73-93. 10.1093/jssam/smz045
- Ye, T., & Mattila, A. S. (2021). The effect of ad appeals and message framing on consumer responses to plant-based menu items. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 95, 102917. 10.1016/j.ijhm.2021.102917
- Ye, T., Mattila, A. S., & Dai, S. (2022). The impact of product name on consumer responses to meat alternatives. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 10.1108/IJCHM-01-2022-0066
- Yule, J. A., & Cummings, K. H. (2023). Conservative consumer disinterest in plant-based meat: A problem of message incongruence. *Appetite*, , 106574. 10.1016/j.appet.2023.106574
- Zhang, B., Fu, Z., Huang, J., Wang, J., Xu, S., & Zhang, L. (2018). Consumers' perceptions, purchase intention, and willingness to pay a premium price for safe vegetables: A case study of Beijing, China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 197, 1498-1507. 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.06.273
- Zhang, J., Hayden, K., Jackson, R., Schutte, R. (2021, May). Association of red and processed meat consumption with cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in participants with and without obesity: A prospective cohort study. National Library of Medicine. Retrieved March 5, 2023, from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33413912/

Appendices

Appendix 1: Pre-study 1: Questions for interview with Anamma

- 1. Tell us about your role and Anamma.
- 2. What are Anamma's primary target groups?
- 3. How would you describe these target groups?
- 4. Any new target groups you wish to reach but have not yet?
 - a. What is the biggest difference between these groups (your primary target group and the ones you are currently not targeting)
 - b. Why have you not targeted them yet, biggest challenges?
- 5. How do you work with advertising?
- 6. How do you work with advertising claims?
 - a. Claims preferred by the different target groups.
 - b. Evaluation of claims suggested for main study thoughts, comments?
- 7. Do you see any general trends in the category for plant-based food?
- 8. Biggest challenge/opportunity for Anamma in the upcoming years?

Appendix 2: Stimuli ads

Environmental claim

Animal welfare claim





No claim condition



Appendix 3: Questionnaire main study

Block 1: Introduction

If you are participating in this survey via Prolific please add your unique ID below. Otherwise just click the blue arrow to start the survey.



We are conducting this survey as part of our Master's Thesis at the Stockholm School of Economics. Thank you for supporting us in our thesis by giving us a few minutes of your time today!

The survey will take about 7 minutes to complete. If you no longer wish to participate, simply close the tab. For the most user-friendly experience, we highly recommend taking the survey on a **computer.** The thesis is not in collaboration with a corporation.

Please only continue with the survey if you **currently live in Northern Europe or Germany**.

If you have any questions or comments, contact us at 42059@student.hhs.se (Sophie) or 23923@student.hhs.se (Ida).

Thank you for participating! Ida & Sophie

----- Page Break -----

GDPR information

As an integral part of the educational program at the Stockholm School of Economics, enrolled students complete an individual thesis. This work is sometimes based upon surveys connected to the subject. Participation is naturally entirely voluntary. You can at any time withdraw your consent by closing the window and your data will thereafter be permanently erased.

Anything you state in the survey will be held strictly confidential and will only be made available to supervisors, tutors and the course management team. The thesis written by the students will not contain any information that may identify you as a participant. All data will be stored and processed safely by the SSE and will be permanently deleted when the project is completed.

You are welcome to visit https://www.hhs.se/en/about-us/data-protection/ in order to learn more about your rights related to personal data.

I have read the information above and consent to take part in this study.

I do not consent to take part in this study.

----- Page Break -----

Block 2: Advertisement

You will now be shown an ad for a plant-based meat product. Imagine the product will be **launched in 2023 and sold in supermarkets in Northern Europe and Germany**. Imagine you see this ad in a context where you normally see ads (e.g. on a billboard or social media).

For the purpose of this study, we define <u>plant-based meat</u> as products that **imitate meat** but are **plant-based**, made with e.g., soy, beans, peas, mushrooms or oats.

Whenever we refer to <u>conventional/real meat</u> in this survey, we mean **red and white meat**, e.g. beef, pork, chicken, but **not fish**.

In the following pages we will ask you a couple of questions regarding this ad. Therefore, please take your time to **study the ad carefully** before you move on to the questionnaire. You will only **see the ad once** and won't be able to go back to it.

Please try to answer the questions as truthfully as possible and trust your instincts.

----- Page Break -----



Have you studied the scenario and ad carefully? You will not be able to go back.

Yes	
No	
Page Break	

Block 3: Dependent variables

What is your opinion on the ad?

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
It was bad	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	It was good
I disliked it	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	I liked it
Negative opinion	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Positive opinion

After seeing the ad, what is your opinion on buying a plant-based burger patty?

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
bad	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	good
unpleasant	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	pleasant
against	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	for
harmful	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	beneficial
unenjoyable	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	enjoyable

Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
Most people who are important to me think I should buy a plant-based burger patty next time I prepare a burger.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Most people who are like me think I should buy a plant- based burger patty next time I prepare a burger.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
People whose opinion I value would prefer that I buy a plant-based burger patty next time I prepare a burger.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
I am confident that, if I wanted to, I could easily buy a plant-based burger patty within the next few weeks	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Buying a plant- based burger patty in the next few weeks is completely up to me	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The decision to buy a plant-based burger patty in the next few weeks is under my complete control	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Here is an attention task for you as it is important that you keep reading all questions carefully. Which of the following is *not* an animal?

Monkey		
Cow		
Banana		
Dog		

Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
I intend to buy a plant-based burger patty in the upcoming weeks	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The next time I buy a burger patty, I will choose the plant- based meat alternative	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I will make an effort to buy a plant-based burger patty in the next few weeks	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I would be willing to try a plant-based burger patty if it was offered to me for free	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I am willing to pay extra for a plant- based burger patty	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I would be interested in finding out more about the product	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

What is your perception of the ad?

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Not trustworthy	0	0	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	0	Trustworthy
Non-emotional	0	0	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	0	Emotional
Non-informative	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Informative

----- Page Break -----

Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements:

"Buying plant-based burger patties instead of patties made of conventional/real meat..."

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
is responsible towards other people/animals/the environment.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
is my moral obligation to other people/animals/the environment.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
would feel like I am contributing to something better.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
would make me feel like a better person.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Strongly disagree O O O O	Strongly disagreeDisagreeOOOOOOOOOOOO	Strongly disagreeDisagreeSomewhat disagreeOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO	Strongly disagreeDisagreeSomewhat disagreeNeither agree nor disagreeOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO	Strongly disagreeDisagreeSomewhat disagreeNeither agreeSomewhat agreeOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO	Strongly disagreeDisagreeSomewhat disagreeNeither agreeSomewhat agreeAgreeOOO

Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements:

"Buying plant-based meat products instead of red meat would mean..."

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
food free from chemicals such as artificial preservatives.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
healthier food.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
better tasting food.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
food that has been produced in a way that is better for the environment.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
food that has been produced in a way that is better from an animal welfare perspective.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Here is an attention task for you as it is important that you keep reading all questions carefully. Please choose the number eight.

1			
7			
8			
12			
23			

----- Page Break -----

Block 4: Control questions & demographics

How much do you like burgers in general (regardless if prepared with real/regular meat or plant-based meat)?

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 I dislike them a lot O O O O O O O I like them a lot

How frequently do you usually consume plant-based meat?

	More than once a week	Once a week	2-3 times a month	Once a month	A few times a year	Once a year	Never
Please choose the category closest to the number of times you consume plant-based meat.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

On how many days per week do you consume **meat** (incl. chicken)? Please state in whole numbers, e.g. 4. (If you're a vegetarian, fill in 0)

Please choose the definition that best describes your dietary preference

Meat eater (My diet consists of meat among other things and I am not actively trying to reduce my meat consumption)

×

~

Flexitarian (I occasionally eat meat but I'm actively trying to reduce my meat consumption)

Vegetarian/vegan (I never eat meat)

Where do you currently live?

What is your nationality?

How old are you? Please state in numbers, e.g. 28

What do you identify as?

Female

Male

Other

What is your gross household income per month? Please convert to **Euros.** 10 SEK are approximately $1 \in$, so if your income is 10,000 SEK per month, choose 1,000 \in . If you're not entirely sure, simply choose an estimate.

(Remember, the survey is entirely anonymous, the data will be permanently deleted when the project is completed and the data exclusively serve the purpose of this master thesis.) What is your gross household income per month? Please convert to **Euros.** 10 SEK are approximately $1 \in$, so if your income is 10,000 SEK per month, choose 1,000 \in . If you're not entirely sure, simply choose an estimate.

(Remember, the survey is entirely anonymous, the data will be permanently deleted when the project is completed and the data exclusively serve the purpose of this master thesis.)

Less than 1,000€ per month
1,000€ - 2,000€ per month
2,001€ - 3,000€ per month
3,001€ - 4,000€ per month
4,001€ - 5,000€ per month
5,001€ - 6,000€ per month
6,001€ - 7,000€ per month
7,001€ - 8,000€ per month
More than 8,000€ per month
Prefer not so say
Please choose the product shown in the advertisement at the very beginning of the survey
Vegetarian pizza
Plant-based burger

Vegan pasta

----- Page Break -----

THANK YOU so much for taking part in our survey!

Here is the completion code for Prolific: C5O32R9M. If you are a Prolific respondent, please copy the ID and submit to the portal before continuing.

Please finish the survey by clicking on the arrow.

Sophie & Ida